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Brief Facts of the Case:- 
This is a case of de-novo adjudication consequent to the order passed by Hon’ble CESTAT, Ahmedabad vide its final Order No. A/10701-10706/WZB/AHD/2012 dated 29.04.2013, wherein the Hon’ble CESTAT had observed that- 
“The appellants will give a list of documents seized from their possession to the adjudicating authority and a list of witnesses required to be cross examined together with their justification. After observing the principles of natural justice, the adjudicating authority, shall pass an order afresh. It is made clear that we are not making any order on merits of the case. All issues are kept open”. On this account, the CESTAT has asked the adjudicating authority to reconsider the issue afresh and pass an order on merits. 

2.
The facts of the care in brief are that M/s BGH Exim Limited, DBZS/140, Ward-12-A, Gandhidham (hereinafter referred to as M/s BGH for short), a trading Unit, was engaged in import of High Speed Diesel Oil (HSD for short), Furnace Oil (FO for short), Naphtha, Coal, Sulphur, etc. and export of Castor Oil, Soybeans DOC, Rapeseed DOC etc., from Kandla port under jurisdiction of Customs House (CH for short), Kandla. They used to import HSD and thereafter Warehouse the same in terms of Section 58 and Section 85 of the Customs Act, 1962 (CA, 1962, for short), with intent to supply the same to the vessels under foreign run (foreign going vessel) for which they were filing undertakings under Section 59 of the CA,1962. M/s BGH had also obtained Warehousing License No. 182 dated 24.05.05 under Section 58 of the CA, 1962, from the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, CH, Kandla for storage of HSD for supplying the same to foreign going vessels, 100% EOUs, manufacturing Units under EPZ & FTZ as bunkers and manufacturer-holders of Advance License. They also had IEC No. 0301061106 and were regularly showing supply/ export of HSD as bonded bunker to the foreign going vessels at various ports of Gujarat under Shipping Bills (S/Bs for short) meant for Export of Duty Free Goods under Ex-bond procedure, filed at the CH, Kandla. Such supplies were made under Bond to Bond transfer under supervision of Customs. On receipt of the intelligence that the said party was engaged in the diversion of the Bonded Bunkers meant specifically for the foreign going vessels (in terms of the S/Bs filed with CH, Kandla), their office premises situated at Gandhidham was searched on 24.08.07 by the Officers of Directorate of Revenue Intelligence (DRI for short) and relevant records pertaining to supply of bunkers which mainly consisting of S/Bs, Master’s requisitions, Bills of Entry (Bs/E for short), Purchase Contracts, etc. were resumed. Simultaneous searches were also carried out at the premises of M/s Zee Shipping Services, at Jamnagar (M/s Zee for short), who had arranged the supplies for M/s BGH, to vessels at ports of Bedi, Sikka, Vadinar etc. and were also looking after the Customs formalities at the ports of supply, wherefrom S/Bs, Letters addressed to the Customs Superintendent, Port Clearances of the Bunker barges etc, were resumed under Panchanama dated 24.08.07. 
3.
The Export General Manifests (EGM for short) of recipient vessels were requested from respective Custom Houses of Sikka, Jamnagar, Vadinar, Pipavav etc. On scrutiny of which it was found that most of the EGMs did not confirm receipt of bunker by the vessels at the port at that material time. Moreover, many EGMs forwarded by the concerned Customs formations were found without duplicate S/Bs (in original) enclosed therein and in a number of cases of supplies (by M/s BGH), duplicate S/Bs (in original) were not forwarded by the concerned CHs stating that the same were not traceable and efforts were on to trace the same. The letters of the connected Custom Houses are mentioned here under:- 

	Sr. No.
	Customs House
	Letter No.

	1.
	Jamnagar
	1. VIII/12-02/CHJ/INFO/03-04/1196 dated 29.08.2007

2. VIII/12-02/CHJ/INFO/03-04/1923 dated 13.03.2008 

	2.
	Sikka
	1. VIII/48-24/DPS-INV-Bunker/CHS/2007 dated 27.08.07

2.  VIII/48-04/Misc/CHS/2007 dated 07.09.2007

3.  VIII/48-04/MISC/2007 dated 25.10.2007

4.  VIII/48-01/Misc/2007 dated 30.10.2007

5.  VIII/48-01/Misc/2007 dated 19.11.2007

6.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007/936 dated 07.07.2008

7.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007 dated 18.11.2008

8.  VIII/48-01/Bunker/2007 dated 01.12.2008

	3.
	Vadinar
	1. VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08/98 dated 19.09.2007

2.VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08/145 dated 10.10.2007

3. VIII/48-03/Misc./VDR/2007-08 dated 04.01.2008

	4.
	Pipavav
	1.VIII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1458 dated 26.10.2007

2. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007.


3.1
Similarly In respect of the supplies of the bonded bunkers shown by M/s BGH to the vessels at GPPL, Pipavav Port, the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, CH, GPPL, Pipavav vide his above said letters confirmed that the following bunkers supplies had not taken place as claimed by M/s BGH under the S/Bs mentioned against each vessel and in some cases even recipient vessels had not arrived at the Pipavav Port at that material time.
	Sr. No.
	S/B No./Date
	Name of the Vessel
	Description of Bunker
	Qty. shown supplied

	1.
	F-770/13.07.2006
	Tug Intersurf
	HSD
	235.92 MT

	2.
	F-965/04.08.2006
	Tug Sea Way-5
	HSD
	67.290 MT

	3.
	F-2666/23.01.2007
	MV Leader-1
	HSD
	14.92  MT

	4.
	F-2663/22.01.2007
	MV Leader-1
	HSD
	16.97 MT


4.
Photocopies of the S/Bs were also obtained from the CH, Kandla, where these were filed. The documents so withdrawn from the bunker suppliers viz. M/s BGH and from various other concerned parties related to supplies of the bunker, the EGMs received from the CHs and the S/Bs wherever enclosed in the EGMs were scrutinized only to notice that M/s BGH had shown supplies of the bonded bunkers to the foreign going vessels at Ports of Sikka, Bedi, Kandla, Mundra, Pipavav, Mul-Dwarka, Porbandar, Okha etc. Further, it was also noticed that supplies of Bonded Bunkers were made under S/Bs meant for “Export of Duty Free Goods”, which were first endorsed by the Officers of CH, Kandla, having designation as PO (Bond), C.H., Kandla and PO (Gate), CH, Kandla, for supervising loading in Tanker Trucks (TTs for short) from Warehousing Tanks and then to Bunker Barges from TTs. The “Let Export Order” (LEO for short) was obtained from the Superintendent of Customs, CH, Kandla on the S/Bs before dispatch of the bunkers. In some cases, it was also found that where bunker were dispatched, from Kandla without any LEO from Superintendent of Customs at CH, Kandla, the said permission was obtained from the Superintendent of Customs, at the Port of supply e.g. at Sikka / Bedi Port. After the Bunkers arrived at the port of supply, where recipient vessel used to await, the Customs authorities of the concerned CHs used to put their endorsement on relevant S/Bs for supervision of supply to the vessel except as otherwise in some cases LEO was also granted by the concerned Customs Superintendent. It was found from the S/Bs that the supplies of bunker to the vessels were shown through TTs as well as through Bunker Barges, because, the vessels at Bedi, Sikka, Vadinar Ports were used to lie at the anchorage point, the supply to such vessels at these ports were possible only through the bunker barges. In cases of bunker supplies to the vessels at Bedi, Vadinar and Sikka Ports, Barges with Bunkers were coming directly from Kandla as well as in some cases Bonded Bunkers were coming first upto the port of supply in TTs and then from Jetty of the said Ports, the same was carried and supplied to the recipient vessels, through the Bunker Barges. On examination of the records withdrawn from various premises of the concerned parties as above and as received from the concerned CHs, various anomalies, deficiencies and inconsistencies were noticed, based on which supplies of bonded bunkers were not confirmed as purportedly shown by the said party through the S/Bs. 

5.
During investigation a statement of Sh. Anurag Chainsingh Surana, Assistant Manager, M/s BGH, was recorded on 22.01.2008, wherein, he voluntarily inter-alia stated that M/s BGH was showing supply of Bunkers to the foreign going vessels at various ports, only on receipt of orders from the local bunker traders e.g. M/s Link Enterprises, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Bharat Petro etc.; that on order for bunker supplies from the local bunker traders they used to prepare the S/Bs in their name and on receipt of payments from the said traders they were getting the said S/Bs filed at CH, Kandla through their CHA; that after the S/Bs were cleared from the Customs, the loading into the TTs from the Warehousing Tanks used to be done as per the concerned S/Bs in presence of their surveyors and after that the bunker was handed over to the engaged traders therefrom who used to look after the supply to the vessels,; that on the basis of the Master’s Requisitions received from Bunker Traders, Sale Purchase Contracts, Bunker Delivery Notes, and the Triplicate S/Bs duly signed by the Master / Chief Engineer (CE for short) of the recipient vessel and the Customs Officer(s) supervising the supply they used to ensure that the supply to the vessel took place, whose name was reflected in the S/B (however he failed to produce the above documents at the time of recording of statement); that they were receiving the payment in cheque, against supply, equivalent to the amount shown in the concerned S/Bs, from the Bunker Traders; that they were receiving payments from the traders as they were posing themselves as the representative of the Ship Owners and then asking the said party to supply the bonded bunker to the vessels through them; that no proof was given to M/s BGH, in this regard; that they were filing the S/B for supply of bonded bunker and used to hand over it to the traders for further supply to vessels, merely on claim by traders that they were nominated by vessel owner for supply of bunker; that after perusing the S/B No. F-3124/10.03.2007, vide which 28.16 MT of HSD was shown as supplied to MT Sonata at Vadinar Port, on 10.03.2007 through barge Hope Island (which, however, in the Oil Record Book (ORB for short) of the barge was shown as 115 MTs) he stated that they had not made any supply of 115 MTs of HSD to MT Sonata; that it took around four days in causing transportation of bunker from Kandla to any vessels at Vadinar; that though as per S/B no. F-3148/13.03.2007, it was shown that 16MTs of HSD was supplied at vessel MT Enrico Levoil at Sikka, yet he was not aware through which Barge, the said supply was made, since it was not clear from the S/B and also as per Port Clearance enclosed in the EGM of the vessel it was mentioned that the vessel had sailed on 14.03.2007. He was shown and asked about the mode of supply of bunker under the S/B No. F-2543/11.11.2005 to vessel MT Jag Anjali at Sikka, after perusing the said S/B he stated that the bunker viz. 200 MTs of HSD was supplied from Kandla to Sikka in the TTs but thereafter how it was supplied to vessel, was not known to him, as name of barge was not reflected anywhere in the said S/B; that he promised to provide such details but however, he failed to give the details as promised. On perusing the S/B No. F-3649/24.03.2006 showing supply of 80 MTs of HSD to MT Team Leopard at Sikka, he stated that he was unaware as to how the bunker was supplied to the said vessel in the present case because the name of Barge was nowhere reflected in the said S/B; that as informed by the bunker trader in the subject supply, HSD was first transported from Kandla to Sikka in TTs and then from Sikka Port to anchorage bunker was supplied through Barge Zee; that he did not know anything about Barge Zee and had never made any payment for transportation through it. He was further shown the S/B No. F-1079/17.08.2006 vide which 30 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to MV African Hawk at Pipavav Port wherein signature of the CE made at reverse of S/B was not matching with the signatures of CE as appended on the Crew Effect Declaration enclosed in the EGM of the said vessel; that after perusing and understanding the above documents he admitted that the two signatures of CE in S/B and in Crew Effect Declaration were not matching; that on the basis of the documents signed and stamped by Master e.g. Master Requisitions, Sale Purchase Contract, Bunker Delivery Notes they were ensuring supply to vessels, however, he failed to produce any of the above documents; that they neither had any evidence nor they were aware of any payments by the Ship Owners to the bunker traders, against supply made by them and they did not have any such evidence or records.
6.
During the statement of Sh. Anurag C. Surana, on 22.01.2008, the details of all the bunker supplies effected by M/s BGH were submitted and as per which supplies of bunker to the vessels at Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi and Pipavav Ports were shown through the TTs and Bunker Barges namely Hope Island, Hope Island-II and Zee (obliquely referring to Zee-II of M/s Zee). Further the Log Books and the ORB of the supplying Barges maintained under MARPOL Regulations by the barge operators were also called for, to verify the aspect of the transportation of the bunker shown through these barges. Besides vide letter dated 22.09.2008 all the supplies of bunker made through barge Zee-II were also submitted by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, however, on scrutiny the above documents / details of supplies made through barges, a number of anomalies were observed therein, which raises serious doubts on the supply of bonded bunkers.
7.
During the course of investigation, statements were also tendered voluntarily by other connected persons as under:-

7.1
One of the Bunker Barges Zee-II shown to be used by M/s BGH was owned and controlled by Sh. Rakesh Barai, Partner of M/s Zee. His statement was recorded on 24-08-2007, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that M/s Zee was engaged in the Ship Supplies of Provisions, Fresh Water, Bunker, Stores etc. to the Foreign as well as Coastal Ships coming at various ports mainly of Saurashtra; that they did not have the CHA License however they had permission of Customs for working as the Ship Store Supplier at the Jamnagar, Sikka, & Vadinar Ports; that besides this they had License of the Directorate General of Shipping, Mumbai for supply of Bunker (HSD, Diesel, FO, Fuel Oil, Lub. Oil etc.); that first they received the order for bunker-supply from the Owners, Charters or the Brokers through the Fax / e-mail, a copy of which they used to produce to the party from where they intended to purchase the Bunker and then they used to file the S/B with the CH at the Port where supply was to be made; that after the S/B was filed by them, the Superintendent of the CH, used to order on the duplicate copy of S/B for the examination of the Bunker coming at the port through Barges or the TTs and then the Customs Inspector, on duty used to examine the Bunker in TTs or in Barges and then used to make an endorsement on the S/Bs to that effect; that only after confirmation through examination of bunker, the same was allowed to be loaded first into the barge at the Jetty, and then the Barge would move to the place where Ship would be anchored and then the supply of bunker was effected from the Barge. He further elaborated that wherever Barges were coming with bunker directly to the port there was no unloading in the barges at the jetty and the bunker was supplied directly to the ship from the barges and thereafter the bunker unloaded in the vessel, the Master / CE of the Vessel used to endorse / certify the quantity of bunker supply, on the S/B (duplicate copy) itself, along with the Customs Officer who used to supervise the unloading; that only after they were completing the supply of bunker to the ship, they used to receive the payment through Cheque, from the Owners/Charters/Broker/ agents who placed the orders; that the above formalities were also adopted by the Customs in case of supply of Bunker under Bond or duty paid bunker; on being asked about the supply of bunker to the foreign going vessels under the S/Bs, filed at the CH, Kandla/ Mundra he stated that they were arranging supplies of bunker and also used to look-after all the Customs formalities in such cases, if these supplies were made to the Ships at the Saurashtra Ports; that M/s Link Enterprises, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s Adani Enterprises Ltd. etc. were their clients for which it was their responsibility to cause the supply of bunker to the foreign going vessels; that they were supplying Bunker to the foreign run vessels at the ports of Sikka, Vadinar & Jamnagar and where they were submitting the S/Bs in the name of  the suppliers with the above named Custom Houses; that they were causing supplies to the foreign going vessels / coastal vessels only through three Bunker Barges namely Dumb Barge Zee-II, MT Hope Island & MT Hope Island-II; that dumb Barge Zee-II belonged to them and MT Hope Island and MT Hope Island-II (both belonged to M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Limited, Gandhidham (M/s BOSTL) owned by Sh. Dushyant Patel); that as regarding the TTs, they were utilizing services of various transporters in carrying the bunkers from Kandla/ Mundra to the Port of Shipments and wherein the Tankers belonged to the transporters they used to make payment to the transporters for the same; that it used to take around 6-7 hours, between Jamnagar to Mundra, a Barge would take around 8 hours; that a barge would take 21/2 days from Hazira to Jamnagar; that a Barge used to unload around 40-50 KL of Bunker into vessels per hour. 
7.2
The statement of Sh. Gautam  Sapui, Master of barge, Hope Island-II was recorded on 10.01.2008, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he was on board of the Barge Hope Island-II and was controlling all operations as the Master; that he was on Barge since July-2007 and was working as per instruction of Sh. Dushyant Patel for loading and supply of the bunker to vessel; that Hope Island-II was engaged in loading / unloading of bunker from Kandla / Mundra Ports to various other ports; that on the barge they used to maintain Log Books wherein the date wise details, relating to the movement, operations like loading / unloading of petroleum products by Hope Island-II used to be mentioned; that they did not maintain any Voyage /Advise Book on the barge which should have been otherwise maintained; that through pipelines it took 6-7 hours and 12 hours through TTs for full loading of Hope Island-II; that the discharging was done by Hope Island-II into vessel at the speed of 120 KL per hour, provided that the vessel was on equal elevation, if the recipient vessel was on higher elevation the discharging would be done at the speed of 80-90 KL per hour; that he was supervising loading and discharging and hence he had idea about the same; that loading at Mundra was done through Pipeline, however, at Kandla it was done always through the TTs; that it took, by Hope Island-II, from Kandla to Sikka anchorage, 7 hours to Vadinar anchorage and 41/2 hours to Bedi anchorage under normal weather conditions; that from Mundra it took around 2 hours by Hope Island-II to reach Sikka / Vadinar anchorage; that for Bedi anchorage he had no idea as he had never visited Bedi from Mundra; that all instructions such as where to go and where and how to load and where to discharge the bunker were coming from Sh. Dushyant Patel; that loading of bunker was done in presence of the Surveyor and crews of barge in case loading is done through the TTs and in presence of Surveyor  and Loading Master in case loading was done through the Pipeline at Mundra; then the surveyors (from SGS, JV Voda & Co., etc.) were also used to come to the supply point on their barge; that they used to receive the Sailing Memo for the port of supply; that the Surveyor used to come with them alongwith the concerned S/Bs & then the supply to vessels was done in presence of the Engineer and the surveyor of the recipient vessel at Sikka / Vadinar / Bedi anchorage; that the Customs Officers used to remain present at the time of loading but at the anchorage during discharging of bunker into vessel no body from Customs come there and the supplies used to be done always in presence of the surveyor; that on seeing the Log Books of Hope Island-II maintained for the period from 12.01.2007 to 05.04.2007 and from 06.04.2007 to 29.06.2007, he identified the handwriting of S/Sh. Mithilesh Kumar, Girish Patel and Dharmendra Kumar in the two Log Books, which were maintained as per instructions of Sh. Girish Patel; that sometimes they load Bunker for more than one vessel, if the vessels to which delivery was to be made were in one port only; that such supplies were always mentioned in the Log Book; 
7.3
The statement of Sh. Viman Ghosh shown as the Master of barge Hope Island was recorded on 10.01.2008, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that, he joined at Hope Island during August-2006 as Quarter Master, thereafter he was promoted to Master in July-2007 and since then he was looking after loading / unloading of liquid cargo and movement of the Barge from one Port to other, for which he used to take all the decisions in respect of the Barge regarding loading / unloading, when and how to start in accordance with the instructions of Sh. Dushyant Patel; that Hope Island was engaged in loading / unloading of the Bunker from Kandla / Mundra Ports to various other ports and the said operations were also being done as per instructions of Sh. Dushyant Patel; that he was competent to give all answers in respect of the Barge Hope Island since he was employed on the said Barge; that they used to maintain Log Book on the Barge wherein time and date wise all the details relating to the movement, operations e.g. loading / unloading of the petroleum products were used to be mentioned; that they were not maintaining any Voyage Book and Advise Book on Hope Island which he accepted as their fault; that the said barge had capacity of 370 KLs against which they were loading maximum 400 KLs of bunker at a time; that the said barge took around 05 hours through pipeline and 10 -12 hours through TTs, for full loading of bunker; that the discharging was done by Hope Island into vessel at the speed of 120 KL per hour if, on equal elevation, however, in case if the receiving vessel on higher elevation, the speed of discharging would be 80 - 90 KL per hour; that from Kandla it would take 6, 7 and 41/2 hours to reach Sikka, Vadinar and Bedi respectively by Hope Island and from Mundra it would take around 02 hours to reach anchorage of Sikka / Vadinar; that he did not have any idea of Bedi as he never went there, however, he stated that it would take around 31/2 hours; that he used to obtain all instructions about where to go and where and how to load and where to discharge the bunker from Sh. Dushyant Patel; that loading of bunker was used to be done in presence of the Surveyor and crews of barge, in case, loading is done through the TTs and in presence of Surveyor and Loading Master, in case, it was done through the Pipeline at Mundra; then the surveyors (from SGS, JV Voda & Co.,etc.) used to come to the supply point on their barge; that the documents, if any, he used to receive on board the barge, for bunker supply, after completion of loading of bunker, at Mundra / Kandla ports, were the Sailing Memo for the port of supply and the Surveyor was coming with them, alongwith the concerned S/Bs, thereafter the supply to vessel was done in presence of Engineer of recipient vessel at Sikka, Vadinar or Bedi anchorage and the surveyor; that the Customs Officers used to remain present at the time of loading but at the anchorage during discharging of bunker into vessel no body from Customs used to come there and the supplies were done always in presence of surveyor. He was shown the Log Books of Hope Island maintained from period 30.03.2005 to 06.09.2007 and after perusing the same he identified that the same was written by Sh. Samir Hazra (Handler) on Hope Island except for the period from 09-03-2007 to 26.04.2007, the Log Book was written by Sh. Raju who left the company; that he admitted the mistake that the Log Book was not signed by any Crew/ Officer of Hope Island; that he had a Second Class Certificate issued by Mercantile Maritime Department, Kolkata, however, the same was not available with him at that moment; that he knew that he could not be the Master of Hope Island as his qualifications were not upto that standard, necessary for becoming the Master; that sometimes they used to receive bunker for two vessels at a time, however, the same was always entered in the Log Book; that they used to supply bunker to vessels at Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi, Kandla, Mundra & Navlakhi only and had never supplied any bunker to vessels at Dahej, Hazira, Magdalla ports.
7.4
Sh. Girish Patel was the Master of Hope Island-II and his statement was recorded on 16.01.2008, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he was on Hope Island-II, from 15.02.2007 to 20.10.2007 (signed off on 20.10.2007) as the Master of the Barge, which was owned by the company M/s BOSTL, Gandhidham, owner of which was Sh. Dushyant Patel, whose instructions were followed while supplying the Bunkers at vessels; that as the Master, his responsibility was to ensure smooth and safe running and operation of the Barge and his decisions were final in relation to the voyage, and operation of the Barge like Bunker loading and supply to the vessel; that Hope Island-II used to receive / load Bunker at Kandla / Mundra only and then used to supply to the vessels at the anchorage of Bedi, Sikka, Hazira and Vadinar; that the loading capacity of Hope Island-II is 550 MTs and they never loaded more than 550 MTs of HSD, or Fuel Oil or FO; that the Log Book and ORB used to be maintained under his supervision by the Chief Officer/ Chief Engineer or the available crew of the barge; that the bunkers at Mundra / Kandla Ports used to be loaded in presence of the supplier’s Surveyor and thereafter the same used to be supplied to vessels at anchorage of Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi, only in the presence of surveyor and the Engineer of the recipient vessel; that it was the surveyor who used to place seal on the barge after completion of loading and then the same was always removed by himself in presence of the Engineer of recipient vessel before commencing supply; that as Master he was only concerned with the transportation of bunker up to the vessel intended to receive the bunker; that after making supply to the vessel at anchorage of Sikka, Bedi & Vadinar, he always returned to Kandla / Mundra, without receipt of any Port Clearance, since nobody used to come while supplying or departing for Mundra / Kandla Ports; that through Cellphone they used to be informed about issuance of Port Clearance from the Customs. After perusing the entries of dates 12 & 13 January, 2007, in the Log Books of Hope Island & Hope Island-II and the corresponding entries in the ORBs of the said barges he stated that the bunker was first received by Hope Island-II from Hope Island and then it was shown as supplied through Hope Island-II to the intended vessel; that after perusing the statement dated 10.01.2008 of Sh. Gautam Sapui, he stated that all facts quoted therein by Sh. Sapui were true and correct; that he (Sapui) was actually a mere handler on Hope Island-II and was not competent to be the Master of the barge as he (Sapui) was not having requisite certificate to be the master of any vessel; that any bunker barge plying in the sea must be commanded by the Captain having approval of Director General of Shipping or the MMD; that he left the barge on 20.10.2007 and since then he never went on board the said barge. He was later shown (i) the Port Clearance No. C-329 dated 07.01.2008, issued by Customs, Kandla and list of Crew Members of the same date, and (ii) Port Clearance No. C-178 dated 07.01.2008, issued by Superintendent  of Customs (MPSEZ), CH, Mundra, No Dues Certificate dated 07.01.2008, of Mundra Port and Crew List of the barge of the same date, then he was asked to explain as to why his name appeared there as Master/ Caption of the barge Hope Island-II to which he stated categorically that he never boarded the barge since the date he signed off i.e. after 20.10.2007; that Mr. Suresh R. Pillai, CE whose name also appeared in the Crew Lists was also incorrectly mentioned as he also had left the barge in May, 2007, approximately; that Mr. A.N. Verghese, whose name appeared as Chief Officer in the Crew List was serving on the barge during the period prior to his joining the company i.e. on Hope Island-II; that he was unaware as to how the name of the persons not on board were shown in the Crew List.

8.
The statements of the Shipping Agents of the recipient vessels were also recorded under Section 108 of the CA, 1962, in view of the facts that NOC is essentially required to be taken from the Shipping Agent of the intended recipient vessel before making any supply of the bonded bunker. In case of supplies of bonded bunkers by M/s BGH it was noticed that most of the alleged recipient vessels were under shipping agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., Interocean Shipping (India) Private limited, and M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd., all based at Jamnagar and Sikka. Further, most of the EGMs of the recipient vessels did not show any bunker receipt at the port, which was contrary to the claim of M/s BGH, and wherever, if such supplies were made in contravention of the Regulation 3 (1) of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976. All these Shipping Agents were fully aware of the legal provisions relating to entry of supply of bonded bunkers to be made in the EGM of the recipient vessels and therefore in all likelihoods, wherever not mentioned, supply was not effected. In view of the above statements of the shipping agents were relevant for the subject investigation. The statements of the Shipping Agents tendered by them voluntarily are as under:- 
8.1
A statement of Sh. Vinny Varkey, Manager of the Shipping Agent M/s Interocean Shipping (India) Private limited, Jamnagar was recorded on 12.12.2007 wherein, he inter-alia, voluntarily explained the procedures related to filing of IGM / EGM of vessels of under their agency at Sikka port; that they undertook supply of ship spares (under TP), Provisions, Deck Stores on request of Master /Owner of the vessel and for which S/Bs were filed by the Ship Chandellers to whom they were entrusting the said work; that they used to mention such ship store supplies in the concerned EGM and also attaching the duplicate S/B therein; that wherever Ship Stores were routed through them, they used to receive the S/Bs which were then always enclosed in the EGM and such ship store supplies were always mentioned in the EGM; that wherever they were getting the S/Bs for supply of bonded bunkers from suppliers they used to enclose the same in the relevant EGM and also used to mention the same therein,  however, wherever they were not getting any S/Bs they were not mentioning any bunker supplies in the EGM; that he was aware that the entry of supply of bonded bunker is to be mentioned in the EGM, statutorily, and the relevant S/Bs must be enclosed in the EGM, without complying these conditions EGM remains incomplete; that wherever they have not been given any S/Bs they did not  incorporate any such entry in the EGM; that it was their duty to confirm as to whether any bonded bunker was supplied to a particular vessel handled by them before filing EGM, and if no S/B was given to them they presume that no bunker was supplied, hence, they omitted to mention the same in EGM.

8.2
A statement of Sh. C.R.Nair, Branch Manager, of the Shipping Agent,  M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., Sikka was recorded on 04.02.2008 wherein, he voluntarily, inter-alia stated that as Shipping Agents, they used to look after the works related to the Customs Clearances for the vessels arriving at the Sikka port and also for their departure from there; that accordingly starting from the boarding of arriving vessels by Customs, filing of IGM on the basis of the declaration by the Master of the Vessels upto arranging for Customs Clearance for sailing of the vessels from Port and then filing of EGM after the vessel sailed from the port were all looked after by them for the vessels coming under their agency; that the IGM / EGM filed by them gave the correct picture of the cargo, ship stores and bunkers in the vessel at the time of arrival and at the time of departure, respectively, from the port; that generally they did not involve themselves in any kind of ship stores supplies, however, sometimes on directions of the Ship Owners they were arranging, for the Customs Clearances, for supply of the Ship’s Spares coming under the Transshipment Permit and in such case they were filing the necessary request applications with the concerned Customs authorities for placing the same on board under the Customs supervision; that whenever any ship stores like Ship Spares/Deck Stores/Bunker were supplied to the vessels coming under their agency, their NOC was statutorily required to be obtained from them and then the duplicate copy of the S/B filed in this respect, duly endorsed by the Master of the vessel and the Customs Officers were handed over to them, then they made entry with regard to such supplies in the EGM of the vessel; that they were placing the duplicate S/Bs so received from the suppliers, in the EGM; that it was obligatory on the part of the bunker suppliers to take NOC from the concerned Shipping Agent before effecting the supply to any vessel; that wherever no entry regarding receipt of bunker was mentioned in the EGM, means no bunker was supplied to the vessel at that material time; that in the EGM the declaration regarding Bunker was given as per the details provided by the Master of the Vessel; that before January, 2008, they had never been supplied with any intimation or any S/B regarding supplies made to vessels under their agencies by M/s Link Enterprises, M/s Adani Enterprises Limited, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., IOCL or by any of their representatives and therefore they did not issue any NOC for the supplies of Bunkers, if any, made to the vessels under their agency at Sikka Port; that lately since January, 2008, they were being handed over the duplicate copy of the S/Bs by the representative of the Bunker Suppliers which they used to enclose in the EGM of the respective vessel; that they had not issued any NOC in respect of any of the vessels, list of which was shown to him, except for one or two supplies made by the barge of Jaisu Shipping where they had been informed by the barge Owner regarding supply of bunkers. Sh. C.R.Nair, after perusing the list of the vessels arrived at Sikka Port under their agency requested for some time to provide the details which was subsequently provided by him vide their statement dated 01.10.2008. 
8.3
A statement of Director of the Shipping Agent, M/s Atlantic Shipping Private Limited, Sh. Prakash Lad was recorded on 01.10.2008 wherein he was shown statement containing details of the Vessels arrived under agency of M/s Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., at Sikka port as submitted by them under their letter dated 07.08.2008 and after perusing the same he signed the same in token of the truthfulness/ correctness of the same. He was further asked about the S/Bs, wherever in the said statement vessels were shown to have received the bunker to which he voluntarily inter-alia stated that in respect of all the vessels mentioned in said statement, they were not given any prior intimation or S/B by the bunker suppliers and neither any NOC was obtained from them for the bunker supplies, if any, and hence, they would not be in a position to provide the details of the bunker supplies or S/Bs with regard to the vessels which were shown in the statement; that the supply of ships stores should be reflected in relevant EGMs; that they were not aware of any bunker supplied to their vessels coming under their agency at Sikka upto October-2007, because till that time they had never been informed by the Bunker Suppliers about any such Ship Store Supplies and therefore at the time of filing of EGM they had not mentioned any Bunker Supplies in the EGMs; that the receipt of bunker reflected by them in the said statement was based on the figures of bunker in balance at the time of departure, provided by the Master/CE of the vessel, however, they had no evidence to prove the supply of bunker to the vessel, and it was purely on the basis of difference in figures of bunker on arrival and departure provided by the Master/CE of the vessel; that to the best of his knowledge they complied with the provisions of the Regulation 3 (1) of the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations, 1976, in respect of the vessels as shown in the statements provided by them on 07.08.2008, as they are not confirming any bunker supply to the captioned vessels; that as clarified earlier, they were not aware of any bunker supplies to the vessels coming under their agency and because of that only they never mentioned the same in the EGM filed by them.

8.4
A statement of Sh. R. Jayraj, Manager of Shipping Agent M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd., Jamnagar was recorded on 08.09.2008, wherein, he voluntarily inter-alia, explained the procedures regarding filing of IGM / EGM for the vessels coming at Sikka Port under their agency and also stated that they were not mentioning all kind of ship stores supplies in the EGM as statutorily required under the Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations,1976; that, in the EGM, they used to mention only those supplies, which were effected by them only; that as regarding supplies made by other Licensed Vendors including supply of bonded bunker to the vessels under their agency they did not mention such supplies in the EGM of the vessel; that they violated the statutory provisions of Export Manifest (Vessels) Regulations,1976, by not entering into the EGM the receipt of Bonded Bunker supplies to their vessel; that neither they were informed by the Ship Store Suppliers nor they were handed over the duplicate S/B for Ship Store Supplies, if any, made to their vessels and in such cases they did not mention such ship store supplies; that except in case of MT Enrico Levoli at Sr. No. 2 and MT Genmar Princess at Sr. No. 8 (in the list of the 11 vessels arrived under agency M/s GAC Shipping (India) Pvt. Ltd., at Sikka, containing other details e.g. date of arrival/ departure, status of vessels under coastal or foreign run, date of conversion/ reversion, bunker status etc.), neither they had been informed by the bunker suppliers nor they had issued any NOC for any bunker supply to their vessel; that he was unaware whether any other vessels had been supplied with any bunker or otherwise, except the said two vessels; that the NOCs so issued in respect of the two aforesaid vessels were not available with him; that they had never issued any NOC for any bunker supplies of M/s Adani Enterprises Limited or M/s Adani Export Limited to their vessels; that they also never placed any order for supply of bunker to their vessels as mentioned in the list submitted by him; although it was their duty as the Shipping Agent to keep track of all the supplies made to their vessels during stay at the ports and then the subsequent entry thereof in the EGM, yet they failed to do so, because they were never informed by the bunker suppliers about any intended supplies to their vessels except the said two vessels and they came to know about the bunker supplies to their vessels only through the DRI, also, the concerned Customs Office/Officers never informed them about any such supplies; that the EGM reflects all ship store supplies made to the vessel during its stay at any port and without which no supply to the vessel is considered confirmed; that the duplicate of S/B related to ship store supplies must be enclosed in the EGM. 
9.
Further statement of Sh. Anurag Chainsingh Surana, Assistant Manager of M/s BGH, was recorded on 17.03.2008, wherein he was asked about the Letter F.No. VIII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08 Dated 04-10-2007 of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, GPPL, Pipavav, wherein it is reported that no bunker (HSD) had been supplied to vessels MV Doha-I and MT Leader-I, as purportedly shown by M/s BGH Exim Ltd. under S/B Nos. F-420/31.05.2006, F-2666/23.01.2007 and F- 2663/ 22.01.2007 to which he produced the Xerox copies of the above said S/Bs, which were endorsed by the Customs Inspector and the Chief Engineers of the respective vessels. On being asked whether he was physically present at the time of supply at the Pipavav Port, he replied that neither he nor anybody from M/s BGH Exim Ltd., was present at the Pipavav at the time of supplies to the above said vessels and that the whole supply was looked after by M/s Bharat Petro in case of MV Doha-I and by M/s World Link TC Bond Store in case of  MV Leader-I; that they received payments from M/s Bharat Petro in case of supply of bunker to MV Doha-I and from M/s World Link TC Bond Store in case of MV Leader-I. He was further shown the Letter F. No. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1450 dated 26.10.2007 of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, GPPL, Pipavav reporting therein that vessels MV Asha Ashik and Tug Sea Way 5 have not arrived at Pipavav Port at the material time when supplies of 20 MTs of HSD under S/B No. 2495/07.11.2005 and 70 MTs of HSD under S/B No. F-965/04.08.2006 were shown as supplied by M/s BGH Exim Ltd., to MV Asha Ashik and Tug Sea way 5, to which he reiterated that they rely on the duly signed S/Bs returned to them by the Bunker Traders and they were not aware whether the above named vessels were present at the Pipavav Port or otherwise at the material time, as the supply was looked after by the bunker traders. Further, when he was asked to produce the Master’s Requisition, Sale Purchase Contracts for the bunker shown as supplied to MV Asha Ashik and Tug Sea Way 5, to which he failed to produce the same saying that he did not have any documents and M/s Link Enterprises was looking after the supplies, as bunker traders. He finally admitted that in absence of any conclusive evidence it was an outright sale of HSD to the Bunker Trader M/s Link Enterprises, by M/s BGH. Further, he was shown the Letter F. No. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007 of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Customs, GPPL, Pipavav, reporting thereunder that the Tug Intersurf was not present at Pipavav at that material time, when supply of 250 MTs of HSD was made to it under S/B No. F-770/13.07.2006, to which he admitted that it was also an outright sale of the HSD to the bunker trader M/s Gujarat Mariners and the S/B was filed on the basis of the requisitions of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, subsequently, the delivery of the product was also handed over to them at Gandhidham by M/s BGH, and hence M/s BGH did not supervise whether the Bunker was supplied or otherwise, however, at later stage they were handed over the triplicate of the concerned S/B with endorsements of Inspector of Customs and CE of the recipient vessel; that it was their responsibility to ensure physical supply to the vessels, since the S/Bs were filed in name of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., but practically, it was not possible for them and they were only looking after the documentation parts and trying to keep the records relating to bunker supplies. He was further shown and enquired about the S/B Nos. F-08/ 03.04.2006 and F-2405/27.10.2005 vide which 10 MTs and 20 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to vessels viz. MV Tatyana and MV Glory C by M/s BGH Exim Ltd., at Pipavav Port and wherein signatures of the concerned Chief Engineer showing “received in full” were not matching with their signatures in the Crew Effect Declarations enclosed in the EGMs of the respective vessels to which he admitted that the signatures of CE of recipient vessels were not matching with the original signatures in various documents in the relevant EGMs of the vessels; that under these circumstances the documents presented by him did not confirm the bunker supplies; that M/s Link Enterprises looked after the said supplies and therefore they were responsible for the same. On being asked about the S/B No. F-1052/11.08.2006 for supply of 20 MTs of HSD to MT Jag Anjali at Sikka anchorage, he admitted that the signatures of the Chief Engineer made at reverse of said S/B were not matching with the signature of the Chief Engineer in the Crew Effect Declaration enclosed in EGM of the recipient vessel; that the said supply was shown after the Port Clearance given to vessel on 14.08.2006, for sailing and no Master would receive any Ship Store after receipt of the Port Clearance. He was further asked about S/B No. F-2543/11.11.2005 under which M/s BGH, showed supply of 200 MTs of HSD to MT Jag Anjali at Sikka and for which he had promised during his statement dated 22.01.2008 that he would bring the relevant documents showing supply of HSD to the said vessel to which he stated that they did not have any documents to prove that supply has taken place through S/B No. F-2543/11.11.2005. Further, he produced some documents consisting of copies of the Master’s Requisition, S/Bs & Sale Purchase Contract on 17.03.2008 during his statement as promised by him in his earlier statement, but on examination of the same it was found that Bunker Delivery Notes (as earlier stated by him to be a very important document to evidence supply of bunker) was not available in the records produced by him. Moreover, the Master’s Requisitions and the Sale Purchase Contracts were also missing in a number of cases of supplies. On being asked regarding the above anomalies, he stated that Bunker Delivery Notes (BDN) was not handed over to them by the Bunker Traders and as regarding other documents, were available with his office only. He was further asked about their various supplies as shown to have been made to the vessels at Bedi and Sikka anchorage through Barge Zee, whereas no Barge by such name exist, to which he replied that he was not aware about the same and the said name was provided to him by Sh. Harendra Karia of M/s Link Enterprises and by Sh. Dushyant Patel of M/s World Link TC Bond Store. Further, that the name of Barge Zee was nowhere reflected in any of their Shipping Bills, though they showed the transportation through the same, since they were not concerning themselves with the physical supply; that physically they never cross checked whether bunker supply was made to intended vessels or not in terms of relevant S/B filed in name of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., though he admitted that it was their responsibility to confirm supply of bonded bunker to the vessels it meant for in terms of S/B.
10.
Further statement of Sh. Anurag Chainsingh Surana, Assistant Manager of M/s BGH, was recorded on 13.08.2008, he voluntarily inter-alia explained that under the S/B No. F-938/02.08.2006 (for supply of 84.240 MTs of HSD to vessel MV Airab at Bedi Port on 05.08.2006), the bunker first arrived at Bedi through TTs and from where it was supplied to the vessel MV Airab in barge Zee; that the name of barge was nowhere mentioned in the said S/B; that on perusal of the EGM of the said vessel he admitted that the same did not confirm any bunker supply to the said vessel. He was asked about S/B No. F-96/12.04.2007 for supply of 9.990 MTs of HSD to MV Inlaco by M/s BGH, which did not bear any endorsement for “Examination” and “LEO” by the concerned Officer of Customs, as statutorily required before making any supply of Bonded Bunker to the foreign going vessel, to which he admitted their lapse and stated that in the subject case bunker arrived upto Bedi Port through TTs and then the same was supplied to the vessel MV Inlaco through barge Zee, however, the name of the barge was nowhere mentioned in the said S/B; that he was aware about the said statutory permission required from Customs for “examination” of bunker and the “LEO” which were not taken in the subject case which was a lapse on their part, but it was looked after by M/s World Link TC Bond Store, the bunker trader. He was shown and asked about the S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 showing supply of 29.360 MTs of HSD to MT Jag Pratap at Sikka (as the name of barge was not found mentioned in the S/B, also no permission apparently was taken from the Superintendent of Customs for “LEO” and the corresponding EGM No. F-92/10.05.2007 of the said vessel was not evidencing any bunker supply) to which he stated that supply of HSD was first made from Kandla up to Sikka into TTs and then Barge Zee was used for supply to anchorage point, however, admitted the fact that EGM of the recipient vessel did not show any such bunker supply and he admitted the above lapses. He was shown and asked about the S/B No. F-1102/31.07.2007 filed in name of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., showing supply of 120 MTs of HSD to vessel AHTS Sim Sim at Sikka on 03.08.2007. After perusing, he failed to explain as to how the bunker was supplied to the vessel in that case as nowhere name of barge was mentioned in the S/B, though he contended that M/s link Enterprises was looking after the supply in that case and they would better be able to reply, yet, after perusing  the EGM of vessel AHTS Sim Sim bearing No.F-362/06.08.2007, he admitted that the EGM was showing receipt of the Ship Stores, however, receipt of any Bunker was not shown therein; that they did not have Original of duplicate or triplicate copy of the said S/B. He was shown and asked about the S/B No. F-3372/14.02.2006 vide which 120 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to MT Artega at Sikka to which he admitted that nowhere in the said S/B name of Barge was mentioned and as per the said S/B and the corresponding EGM of the recipient vessel supply appeared not confirmed, but as the supply was looked after by M/s Gujarat Mariner, they would be able to reply the same. He was further shown report of the concerned Shipping Agent wherein the said vessel was reported to have not received any bunker at Sikka and after perusing the same he agreed to the facts. He was further shown and asked about the S/B No. F-2306/18.12.2006 , showing supply of 99.530 MTs of HSD to MT Arius at Sikka with endorsement of CE of the recipient vessel, but the said S/B did not bear any signature of Customs Officers of Sikka and also no “LEO” was given in the said S/B by the concerned Superintendent (Customs), to which he admitted the lapse which was otherwise statutorily required and after perusing the corresponding EGM of the Vessel he admitted that it was not confirming any bunker supply; that as the duplicate S/B in original bore the signature of the Customs Inspector of Sikka Customs, the said supply might have been made without supervision of Custom, however, M/s World link TC Bond Store would be able to reply as they have looked after the said supply. He was also shown and asked about the S/B No. F-2570/14.11.2005, showing supply of 28.610 MTs of HSD to MT Maharshi Devatreya at Sikka on 17.11.2005. After perusing it and the EGM of the recipient vessel, he stated that he could not reply as to how the bunker was supplied in that case and admitted that the said supply was not confirmed as per the EGM. He was further shown the Xerox of the triplicate S/B No. F-1112/21.08.2006, vide which supply of 29.530 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to MT Xiang Rui Men at Sikka on 23.08.2006 and the corresponding EGM No. F-303/31.08.2006 of the said vessel. After perusing the same he admitted that the bunker supply was not confirmed; that he was unable to explain how the supply was shown to have been made; that signature of Chief Engineer on the said S/B was altogether different from that on the Crew Effect Declaration enclosed in the EGM; that the supply in the subject case was made through the bunker trader M/s Link Enterprises, however, on the basis of the bunker supply documents, supply in the subject case was not confirmed. He was further asked that in many of the cases of bunker supplies shown under the S/Bs filed in the name of M/s BGH, a number of lapses were found like absence of any permission to the effect of the “LEO” by the Customs, Kandla as well as at the port of supply and also nowhere mode of supply /name of barge were mentioned in the relevant S/Bs, wherein he failed to explain as to how the supply was made to the vessels under a particular S/B in number of cases and under these circumstances how could he claim to have made such supplies, to the vessels to which he admitted the lapses and held the bunker traders guilty for the same as they had arranged the supplies; that even after that M/s BGH was to ensure physical supply of the bunker to the intended vessel, which was not done in many cases; that the BDN being one of the most important documents for bunker supply was also not available with them. 
11.
Statements of the Customs Officers who endorsed the Shipping Bills of BGH showing supervision of supply at Sikka and Vadinar Ports were also recorded.
11.1.
The statement of Sh. Charles Mathew, Inspector of Customs, Customs House, Sikka,  was recorded on 01.12.2008, wherein, he voluntarily inter-alia stated that  he was posted at CH, Sikka as Inspector of Customs, during 2005 to June 2007. There he attended work relating to assessment of Bs/E, S/Bs, Boarding formalities for incoming vessels at Sikka; that they were also checking the IGM, EGM and putting up to them for import and export entries therein; that they were, not entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels (this is however not true as a number of EGM shows entries of the Ship Store Supplies including bunker supplies). On being asked as to how they were performing the examination and supervision of the Bunker Supplies being made to the vessels at Sikka anchorage, to which he stated that on receipt of intimation regarding supply of bunker from the Bunker Suppliers or through their agent he was causing entry of the concerned S/B in the S/B Register of the office and then on arrival of the bunker at the anchorage through the Bunker Barge, he was attending to the work of supervision of bunker supplies to the vessels; that the  examination of the Bunker was used to be done at the Kandla / Mundra Port, where the same was loaded into the barge; that in case of bonded bunkers arrived in TTs, the bunkers were transferred in the barge at Sikka jetty and then was supplied to vessels at anchorage; that in case of bunker supplies through Barge Hope Island and Hope Island-II, M/s Zee Shipping Services, were intimating the Customs Office and in case of the Bunker Barge Kamal XXI, the owner’s company M/s Jaisu Shipping was sending their authorized person for submitting the application for bunker supply; that he always checked the S/Bs and supervised supplies in terms of the details mentioned in the concerned S/Bs; that he attended some of the supplies, however, in some cases, he deputed the Group D Staff to ensure the supply as he had been engaged in some other office work. He was shown the Xerox of the duplicate S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 showing supply of 29.360 MTs of HSD to Mt Jag Pratap at Sikka. After perusing the same he agreed to the fact that the name of the barge was reflecting nowhere in the said S/B; that in that case, the bunker first came to Sikka through TTs and then how supplied to vessel at Sikka anchorage and through which Barge was neither known to him nor shown in the S/B; that though due to overwork in the office he could not physically supervise supply of bunkers, however, he deputed Group D Staff for the same and as regarding allowing supplies without “LEO” on the concerned S/Bs the same would better be replied by the concerned Superintendent of Customs; that entries regarding supply of Bonded Bunker to the vessels were statutorily required to have been made in the EGM of recipient vessels, but the same were not made in many cases, however, in some cases entries were made regarding Ship Store supplies or Bunker supplies. 
11.2
A statement of Sh. Parag Uchat , posted as Inspector of Customs at Customs House, Sikka was recorded on 12.12.2008, wherein, he voluntarily inter-alia stated that from 2005 till June 2007, he was posted at CH, Sikka, during which he attended the work relating to assessment of Bs/E, S/B, Boarding formalities for the incoming vessels; that they were also checking the IGM / EGM putting up to them for import / export entries therein; that they were entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels. that on receipt of intimation regarding supply of bunker from the Bunker Suppliers or through their agent he was causing entry of the concerned S/B in the S/B Register of the office and then on arrival of the bunker at the anchorage through the Bunker Barge, he was attending to the work of supervision of bunker supplies to the vessels; that the examination of the Bunker was done at the Kandla /Mundra Port where the same was loaded into the barge; that in case of bonded bunkers arrived in TTs, the bunkers were transferred in the barge at jetty and then it was supplied to the vessels at anchorage; that he used to check the S/Bs and had supervised supplies in terms of the details mentioned in the relevant S/Bs, however, in some cases due to his engagement in some other official work, he did not physically supervise the supplies, but he used to send Customs Sepoys, from his office, to see the supply of bunker to vessels at the anchorage. He was shown the S/B No. F-511/22.12.2006 under which 547.01 MTs of Fuel Oil, was shown to have been supplied to vessel MT Arius at Sikka on account of M/s Adani Exports Ltd. After perusing the same he stated that the name of the barge utilised in the supply, under the said S/B, was not known to him, also nowhere in the S/B, the name of the barge was mentioned; that though it was his duty to ensure that name of barge be mentioned in the S/B, however, the same was left to be done due to oversight; that as regarding physically supervising such supplies of bunker being made to vessels would take around 10-12 hours and due to heavy work at the CH, Sikka he used to send the Group D Staff for ensuring the supply; that they did not maintain any specific Group D Staff Register for such deployment. He was shown the F-511/ 22.12.2006 under which 547.01 MTs of Fuel Oil was shown as supplied to vessel MT Arius at Sikka on account of M/s Adani Exports Ltd. After perusing it he stated that he had not physically supervised the supply under the said S/B, and the name of barge was not known to him; that he had sent the Group D Staff to ensure supply in that case; that though the Gr. D staff was officially not authorized to conduct such supervision, yet due to over burden, he was some times compelled to do so; that he did not have any evidence to show that the Gr. D staff so deployed really supervised such supplies; that he was generally asking the concerned Shipping agent to ensure proper entries of the ship store supplies in the EGM as required under the Export Manifest (Vessel) Regulations, 1976; that it was essential also. He was also shown the EGM No. F-429/24.01.2006 of vessel Jag Pranam wherein in the EGM Performa, supplies of ship stores including the bunker supplies were mentioned and he had endorsed the same, wherein the entries of bunker supplies of 300 MTs of FO and 70 MTs of HSD was shown as made under S/B Nos. F-3065/12.01.2006 and F-3066/ 12.01. 2006, properly EGM along with other supplies and the S/Bs were properly showing which barges were utilised for bunker supplies, from which it was evident that he was fully aware about the provisions of such Bunker Supplies to the foreign going vessels. He was then asked as to why he omitted to comply the provisions in other cases of bunker supplies as explained above to which he admitted and agreed to the facts as explained to him but he clarified that EGM was prepared by the Shipping Agent and procedure remained to be maintained due to oversight. On being asked as if he could allow shipment of bonded bunker to any vessel, if “LEO” was not granted in the concerned S/B to which he stated that he could not. 
11.3
A statement of Sh. Hetalkumar H. Raveshia,  Inspector of Customs at Custom House, Sikka was recorded on 18.12.2008, wherein, he inter-alia voluntarily stated that from June 2006 till June 2008, he was posted at CH, Sikka during which he attended the work relating to assessment of Bs/E and S/Bs, Boarding of the incoming vessels and also day-to-day office correspondences and supervision of ship store supplied to the vessels etc.; that he was  also checking the IGM / EGM putting up to him for import / export entries therein; that he was entering the ship store supplies in the EGM of the vessels. On being asked as how the bunker supply to the vessels at Sikka was used to be examined by him, he replied in the same way as replied by his other contemporary colleagues; that he was checking the S/Bs, and was supervising supplies  in terms of the details mentioned in the relevant S/Bs; that however sometimes due to engagement in some other works, he was physically not supervising the supplies and instead sending the Sepoy to look after the same and during the completion of discharging he was making visit to the recipient vessel at anchorage for endorsing the S/B; that he was though not authorized to depute any Sepoy for supervision of bunker supply, however, he was endorsing name of Sepoy on the permission letter of the agent; that he has no evidence to corroborate the same.
11.4
A statement of Sh. Dilipkumar P. Solanki, Inspector of Customs, at Vadinar was recorded on 02.03.2009 and wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he was posted at Vadinar Customs and attended the work related to assessment of Bs/E and S/Bs, Boarding of the incoming vessels and also day-to-day office correspondences and supervision of ship stores supplied to the vessels at Vadinar etc.; that the IGM / EGM were being put up to him by the concerned Shipping Agent and he was checking the same only in respect of import/ export cargo details being carried by the relevant vessel; that he was ensuring that the goods being imported/exported were entered correctly therein; that he was ensuring that mostly all the supplies of ship stores made to the vessels through the Agents, during its stay at Vadinar Port were got entered in the concerned EGM of the vessels; that he was attending the supplies of Bonded as well as Duty Paid Bunker (FO, HSD, LDO etc.) to the vessels at Vadinar anchorage; that on receipt of intimation from the various agents namely M/s Zee, M/s Jaisu Shipping Services etc., he was attending the supervision of bunker supplies to the vessels at Vadinar anchorage; that during his tenure at CH, Vadinar, he was overburdened with the office and administrative work etc. and as such at times, he was not able to physically supervise the bunker supply at anchorage; that in such case he used to deploy Sepoy to supervise such supplies but did not maintain any record for the same; that they were though maintaining S/B Register for Provisions/ Ship Store Supply, but no such registers were maintained for Bonded Bunker Supplies under the S/Bs filed through other ports; that he further specified that they were maintaining the register of S/Bs only filed at the CH, Vadinar. He was shown a copy of the S/B No. F-3124/ 10.03.2007 vide which 30 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to MT Sonata at Vadinar. After perusing the same he admitted that supply of bunker shown under the said S/B was without Let Export permission; that he had physically not attended the said supply due to some urgent office work and deployed a Sepoy for the same; that after seeing the signature of the Master/CE of the vessel on the said S/B he signed/endorsed the said S/B; that he was ensuring that, mostly all the supplies, of ship stores made to the vessels through the Agents during its stay at Vadinar Port, were got entered in the concerned EGM of the vessels;

12.
Sh. Amit Dingwani an Executive Officer in the office of barge operator company M/s Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd. (M/s BOSTL), owners company of barges Hope Island and Hope Island-II, was found to have written the remark of the Chief Engineer of the recipient vessels at the reverse of the S/Bs, and therefore, his statement was recorded on 16.02.2009, to ascertain the facts as to why he wrote endorsement of the CE on the S/B and under what circumstances the same was done. In his voluntary statement he inter-alia stated that he was in the company since 2003 and was looking after the work related to operation, registration, survey work etc., for the Tugs and the barges owned and run by the company; that he was involved in the supply of bunker; that on getting requisition for bunker barges from the bunker suppliers, he used to arrange the barge for loading of bunker at the load port i.e. Kandla / Mundra and then from loading into barges upto supply to vessels he looked after the operation related work. He was shown a S/B No. F-1615/ 07.10.2006, showing supply of HSD and FO to vessel MT Donh Shun Ocean at Sikka port on account of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, at the reverse of which “Ch. Engineer Remark” was made regarding supply of bunker through barge Hope Island, when asked whether the said remark was handwritten by him to which after perusing the said S/B, he confirmed that the same was written by him on instructions of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that he received the said S/B from Sh. Amit Sinha of M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Gandhidham; that he confirmed to have written the remarks at the reverse of S/B F-385/31.10.2006 and 369/26.10.2006 and admitted that he was though not present at the place of discharge even after that he wrote the said remarks on being asked by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. He was also shown a number of S/Bs where at reverse of which same remark of Chief Engineers were found to have been written by him admittedly and after perusing the same, he confirmed to have written those remarks without overseeing the physical supplies of bunker to the vessels, as a matter of routine practice on being asked by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar; that at the anchorage of Sikka, Vadinar and Bedi no Customs Officers used to come to supervise the supplies of bunker to vessels and generally after 1-2 days of supply of bunker to vessels, the S/Bs used to be put up to them and they were putting their signatures on the same.

13.
Statement of Sh. G.C.Singhvi, Vice President of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., was recorded on 16.04.2009, wherein, he voluntarily, inter-alia, stated that they were receiving orders for supply of bunker from the local bunker traders viz. M/s Link Enterprises, M/s Gujarat Mariner, M/s World Link TC Bond Store, Bharat Petro, M/s Asia Shipping Services and on receipt of such orders they used to file the S/Bs and then used to hand over the S/B along with the Bunker to the Bunker Traders/Suppliers at tank terminal only for onward supply to the intended vessels; that before handing over the product they used to receive the advance payment for the bunker from such Bunker traders/suppliers and after handing over the bunker to the bunker traders/suppliers the supplies to vessels were looked after by the bunker traders/suppliers; that they did not have any written agreement with the bunker traders/ suppliers for making such supplies to the vessels, however, they were getting written confirmation from the above named traders for bunker supplies with price on Ex-Tank basis; that physical transportation and supplies were used to be arranged by the traders without involvement of M/s BGH; that based on the nomination received from above traders they used to file the S/Bs and then all further procedures were used to be looked after and monitored by other officers of the company, including Sh. Anurag Chainsingh Surana, who have already explained the same in his submissions and he (G. C. Singhvi) expressed his agreement to the same; that he had applied to the DG Shipping in May 2005, but no permission or license has been granted to them till date. He was shown Letter F. No. DRI/JRU/INV-01/2007 dated 08.12.2008, written to the DG Shipping, Mumbai, regarding registered bunker supplier, in response to which a letter No. ENG/OPP/MARPOL-38(5)/04 dated 17.12.2008, was received by the DRI, from the DG Shipping, Mumbai, which confirmed the fact that M/s BGH, had not been registered as the Bunker Suppliers till date 17.12.2008 to which Sh. Singhvi agreed. He was further shown the below mentioned letters of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Customs, GPPL, Pipavav, wherein it was categorically mentioned that supply to the vessels were not made and that the vessels shown in the S/Bs had not arrived at Pipavav Port at that material time:-
	Sr. No.
	Letter No./.Date
	S/B No./Date
	Vessel Name

	1.
	VIII/48-IGM-EGM/07-08 of date  04.10.2007 & VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08 dated 26.10.2007
	F-420/31.05.2006, 
F-2666/23.01.2007, 
F-2663/22.01.2007 &        F-  2495/07.11.2005
	MV Doha-I and MT Leader-I, MV Asha Ashik

	2.
	VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08 dated 07.01.2008 and VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL /07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007
	F-965/04.08.2006 and F-770/13.07.2006
	Tug Sea Way 5 and Intersurf


After perusing the above said letters regarding non-supplies of bunker by BGH Exim Ltd., to the vessels at Pipavav Port, he agreed to the fact of non-supply reported therein. He further stated that after filing of S/Bs in name of M/s BGH, it was the responsibility of the company to ensure that the bunker covered under S/B, has been physically supplied to the intended vessels in terms of S/B. He was further shown the copies of the duplicate S/B Nos. F-1102/31.07.07 for supply of 120 MTs of HSD to MV Sim Sim and F-87/11.04.2007 for supply of 93.240 MTs of HSD to MT Mandalay at Sikka & Vadinar Port and after perusing the same he agreed to the fact that in the said S/Bs, no “LEO” was obtained from Customs, as statutorily required under Section 51 of the CA, 1962, because they were not involved in physical bunker supplies therefore they were not aware about the said lapse. He was further shown the duplicate S/B No. F-3148/13.03.2007 (in original) showing supply of 15.78 MTs of HSD to Mt Enrico Levoli, at Sikka, however, after perusing he agreed to the fact that name of supplying barge was nowhere mentioned in the said S/B; that further clarification in the subject supply could be given by the bunker trader.
14.
The statement of Sh. Rakesh M. Barai, partner of M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar, was recorded on 09.04.2009, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that no transportation of bunkers, other than those shown in the details enclosed with the said letter dated 22.09.2008 were carried out by them; that the letter dated 22.09.2008 submitted by him were enclosing details of the transportation of bunker through their Barge Zee-II to the vessels; that they were obtaining permission from the concerned Customs at Sikka / Vadinar / Jamnagar, for the same, on receipt of intimation / fax, of the S/Bs from the bunker suppliers causing supply to the vessels, in terms of the relevant S/Bs; that  the supply of bunkers at the ports were made to the vessels at anchorage only, therefore, in most of the cases, the bunker barge were coming to the anchorage of the above ports, from Kandla / Mundra (as the case may be), with the bonded bunker and the original S/Bs and thereafter on getting confirmation from them regarding permission of Customs, supply to the vessels were made from Barge; that normally they were not taking any NOC from the concerned Shipping Agent; that after completion of bunker supply all copies of S/Bs were returned to the suppliers through the supplying barges only at Kandla / Mundra; that wherever supplies were made through TTs up to Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi Ports from Kandla / Mundra, they got the S/Bs endorsed from Customs and then in such cases the duplicate S/Bs (in originals) were being retained by the Customs; that under these circumstances the duplicate S/Bs (in originals) were either with the bunker suppliers or with the concerned Customs Offices; that on their part they never handed over the S/B (in original) to the Shipping Agent; that the name of the barges used in the transportation of bunker viz. 200 MTs of HSD, under S/B No. F-2543/11.11.2005 to vessel MT Jag Anjali at Sikka Port was not mentioned in the S/B; that the said supply was not made by Zee-II and he also did not know as to which barge was used for that supply; that he was not aware about the name of the barge employed for supply of HSD to MT Enrico Levoli as nowhere in the S/B F-3148/13.03.2007, the name of the barge was reflected; that name of supplying barge was nowhere mentioned in the S/B No. F-96/12.04.2007, which showed supply of 9.99 MTs of HSD to MV Inlaco at Bedi anchorage, and therefore he was unable to confirm as which barge was used in the said supply; that the name of the barge was not mentioned under S/B No. 219/27.04.2007, which was shown to be utilized for supply of 30 MTs of HSD to vessel MT Jag Pratap at Sikka on account of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., and therefore, he was unable to confirm as to which barge was used in the said supply as such details could be given by bunker supplier themselves. He was further shown the S/B No. F-1102/ 31.07.2007 and the EGM No. F-362/06.08.2007, vide which supply of 120 MTs of HSD was shown by M/s BGH, to Tug AHTS Sim Sim at Sikka. After perusing the same he stated that he was unable to confirm as to how the said supply was effected to the vessel; that the supplier could give the details; that it is a fact that no “Let Export” permission was taken before supplying; that the said EGM of the said Tug did not show any bunker receipt at Sikka during the material time though containing details of all ship stores supplies made to the vessel at Sikka. He was further shown the S/B No. F-3372/14.02.2006 (filed in name of M/s BGH Exim Ltd.) and the EGM No.  F-485/16.02.2006, for supply of 119.62 MTs of HSD to MT Artega at Sikka. After perusing, the same he stated that he could not say which barge was utilised in that supply; that after perusing the EGM, he agreed that no supply was mentioned therein; that the the above documents were not confirming the supply of bunker to the vessel. He was further shown the S/B No. F-87/11.04.2007, as per which supply of 93.240 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Mandlay at Vadinar to which he stated that he was not aware as which barge was used in the said supply and as regarding absence of any “LEO” in the concerned S/B; that no supply of bonded bunker could be made to any foreign going vessel without obtaining the “LEO” from the concerned Superintendent of Customs. He was further shown the S/B No. F-172/25.04.2006, vide which supply of 150 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Shivatreya at Sikka, to which he stated that all the statutory permissions were obtained from Customs and also the name of barge was shown in S/B, supply mentioned in the EGM, however, such mandatory procedures were not obtained in many cases of bunker supplies as discussed above and therefore, the supplies appeared to be doubtful for the reasons that statutory permissions were not taken as required under the CA, 1962, moreover the name of barge was not reflected, hence the receipt of bunker could not be confirmed. He was further shown the S/B No. F-2306/18.01.2006, showing supply of 99.530 MTs of HSD to MT Arius at Sikka on account of BGH Exim Ltd.. After perusing the same he agreed that the subject supply was shown as made without statutory permission of “Let Export” from Customs. He was further shown and asked about the supply of 30 MTs of HSD shown to MT Sonata at Vadinar Port under S/B No. F-3124/10.03.2007 filed in name of M/s BGH, copy of which placed at page 393 of the File No. 13 withdrawn from his office. After perusing the said S/B, he admitted that the subject supply was shown as made without statutory permission of “Let Export”; that the date of supply was also changed (tempered) through overwriting from 10.03.2007 to 14.03.2007. Thereafter, he was shown the ORB of Barge Hope Island, according to which supply of 115 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Sonata on 14.03.2007 against quantity of 30 MTs mentioned in the relevant S/B to which he agreed that as per the ORB, supplied quantity was not found matched with the relevant S/B. He was asked to explain whether the above said supplies of bonded bunker by IOCL to the vessels were arranged by M/s Zee Shipping Services, to which he stated that they used to obtain the permission from concerned Customs House, on receipt of the S/Bs through fax; that whether the supplies were made to the vessel or otherwise, could be replied by Barge Owner, M/s BOSTL, Gandhidham and IOCL only; that any supply of bonded bunker without “Let Export” and without supervision of the Customs, was illegal, however, the concerned Superintendent (Customs) was responsible for not signing the S/B, when the Inspectors (Customs) had endorsed it. 
15.
M/s Gujarat Mariner and M/s Link Enterprises were the bunker trader for the supplies of bonded bunker shown by M/s BGH under S/Bs filed in their name and therefore statements were recorded of the two said bunker traders which are as under :-

15.1
A statement of Sh. Dushyant R. Patel, Proprietor M/s Gujarat Mariner, was recorded on 08.12.2009, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that he is one of the partners in M/s World Link TC Bond Store, one of the directors in M/s BOSTL, which were engaged in the business of barge transportations and he was also the proprietor of M/s Gujarat Mariner, which was floated by him for supplies of bunkers; that in all the aforesaid companies, he was the final decisions making authority and therefore, he was  responsible for all acts and omission on the part of these three companies; that he received the Bonded Bunker (only HSD) from M/s BGH Exim Ltd. in his company M/s Gujarat Mariner, for supply to the vessels under foreign flag and in all such cases S/Bs were filed in the name of M/s BGH; that he was also arranged for supplies of Bunker on behalf of IOCL as the barge operator and where on receipt of FO, LDO, Lub Oil etc. from IOCL for supplies to the vessels at Sikka, Vadinar, Bedi, Mundra, Pipavav, Okha, Navlakhi, Porbandar, and Kandla, where their role was as barge operators and they  delivered bunker to the intended vessels in terms of relevant S/Bs through their barges Hope Island & Hope Island-II. In such cases, S/Bs were used to be filed with Customs in name of IOCL through them; that as per their contract, after taking delivery of bunkers from IOCL from the Warehousing Tanks at Kandla Main Terminal, they used to arrange for supply of bunker (bonded as well as duty paid) to the vessels through their  above named two barges. He was asked about the supply of 119.620 MTs of HSD to MT Arteaga at Sikka Port, under S/B No. F-3372/14.02.2006 of M/s BGH. After perusing the said S/B and the barge documents he stated that the said supply was arranged through Hope Island; that as per the “Ch. Engineer Remark” at reverse of S/B, name of supplying barge was Hope Island, on being confronted with the report dated 22.10.2008 of M/s BGH, wherein the subject supply was shown through barge Zee and the “Ch. Engineer Remark” was put by one of his employee in M/s BOSTL, Sh. Amit Dingwani, while sitting in the office, and on being asked about the above anomalies and inconsistencies he stated that the report of M/s BGH, was not right and as regarding “Ch. Engineer Remark” he said that he could not say anything in that regard. He was then shown the EGM of the said vessel. After perusing the same he agreed that said EGM No.  F-485/21.02.2006 of MT Arteaga not mention the supply of any bunker to the vessel and therefore, the said supply could not be confirmed. He was further shown Letter F. No. VII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007 & VIII/IGM-EGM/ PPL/ 07-08/1458 dated 26.10.2007 of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Custom House, GPPL, Pipavav as per which supply of 235.92 MTs, 16.97 MTs & 14.92 MTs of HSD shown as made by M/s BGH Exim Ltd., to have been made to vessels Tug Intersurf and MV Leader-I at Pipavav Port under S/B Nos. 770/13.07.2006 and 2663/ 22.01.2007 & 2666/23.01.2007, were factually not made & M/s Gujarat Mariner was the Bunker Trader for the above three supplies, when asked about the above, to which after perusing the above said letters, he stated that except Tug Intersurf as far as he knew they arranged for supply of bunker under S/B Nos. F-2663/22.01.2007 and F-2666/ 23.01.2007 through TTs to MV Leader-1 at Pipavav Port; that they had received order from M/s Zee Shipping, Jamnagar for supplies to MV Leader-1, and they received payment in INR from M/s Zee Shipping only for the subject supplies; that he would confirm whether bunker was actually supplied to the vessel or not within one week (in which he failed). He  further stated that they, as bunker trader, were not involved in case of Tug Intersurf and therefore, he could not  say whether supply was made to vessel or otherwise. He was further asked as to who placed order for supply of bunker covered under the above said S/Bs to M/s Zee Shipping Services and how did he confirm that the said supplies of HSD to MV Leader-1. were made properly on request of Ship Owner’s Company to which he stated that they presumed that M/s Zee, received order from Ship Owner’s company and only then they received bunker from M/s BGH for supply to the said vessel ; that as regarding report of the Customs authority of CH, Pipavav for non-supply of bunker to MV Leader-1, he would present the relevant records within a week (in which he failed). He was further asked about supply of 15.78 MTs of HSD to MT Enrico Levoli at Sikka Port under S/B No. F-3148/ 13.03.2007 by M/s BGH, where M/s Gujarat Mariner was the bunker trader and received the said quantity of HSD for supply to MT Enrico Levoli, whereas as per the Port Clearance No. F-794/14.03.2007, enclosed in the EGM No. F-752/16.03.2007 of the said vessel, it had sailed from Sikka on 14.03.2007 at 0430, whereas, supply of bunker to the said vessel was shown on 15.03.2007. On being asked, as to how the supply to vessel was made to which, after perusing the above documents he stated that bunker supply to the vessel was  shown after the vessel had sailed from Sikka; that 15.78 MTs of HSD was dispatched from Kandla to Sikka port through TTs by them and thereafter the onward supply was arranged by M/s Zee Shipping Services; that the name of the barge, used in the supply was not forthcoming from the S/B; that he agreed that after sailing of the vessel from the port, supply of bunker was not possible which had been shown in the instant case; that, however, while sitting at Kandla they were not aware about the date of sailing of vessel from Sikka. He was further shown S/B No. F-2306/ 18.12.2006 and the corresponding EGM No. F-583/02.01.2007 of vessel MT Arius, to which after perusing, he stated that the said supply was arranged by them through Hope Island; that the supply to the said vessel was shown without permission of “Let Export” from the concerned Superintendent of Customs, and hence it was illegal under the provisions of CA, 1962, of which he was aware; that, therefore, he admitted the lapse in this regard. He further stated that the Customs formalities were looked after by M/s Zee Shipping Services and therefore, it was their duty to take permission of the Customs. He also confirmed that EGM of the vessel MT Arius did not confirm bunker receipt at Sikka during that material time. He was further shown the xerox copy of duplicate S/B No. F-2306/18.12.2006, as available in the file withdrawn from his premises, wherein, the endorsement of the supervising Customs Officer of CH, Sikka was not there, whereas the same S/B was found signed by the CE of the vessel showing receipt of the bunker, when asked he stated that subject supply was made to the vessel without any supervision of the Customs of Sikka, and only after supply he  sent the Original S/B in triplicate to M/s Zee Shipping Services, for endorsement thereon by the Customs Inspector of Sikka Customs; that he was aware of the legal provisions for being in line of bunker supply for long time but why officers of Sikka Customs were not attending the supervision of supply was not understood to him; that statutory provisions, which are mandatory, were not followed while causing supply of bonded bunker to the vessels in the above cases, however, it was also because of lapses on part of M/s Zee Shipping Services, as all customs documentation work at Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar etc. ports were  looked after by them only. He was asked as to whether he agreed that in case of M/s BGH, where bunker was delivered to M/s Gujarat Mariner for onward supply to intended vessels in terms of S/Bs filed in their name (M/s BGH), it was like an outright sale of bonded HSD to M/s Gujarat Mariner by them, since against receipt of the bunker under S/Bs filed in their name, M/s Gujarat Mariner made payment to the them, which in fact, should have been received from the Ship Owners/ Charter/ Agent companies, to which he agreed, but reasoned that it was like sale of bonded HSD to M/s Gujarat Mariner, as M/s BGH had not ensured supply of bunker to the vessels for which they filed S/Bs with the Customs; that only on making payment to M/s BGH, they were given delivery of the bonded HSD along with the S/Bs in triplicate by them and afterwards when they returned them the triplicate copies of the S/Bs they never cared to look in to the anomalies as discussed above and therefore, it was more like sale of bonded bunker to M/s Gujarat Mariner. On being asked about the original of the duplicate S/Bs in respect of the bonded HSD shown as supplied by M/s BGH, missing in the EGM of the recipient vessel, he reasoned that M/s Zee, were giving the same to the concerned Shipping Agent, but they were refusing to accept the same for the reasons that they were never intimated in advance about intended supply to the vessel; that he, however, did not  have any documentary evidence to that effect; that they were not taking any NOC for supply of bunker, however, they presumed that the Ship Owners companies had informing them about the same.
15.2
Statement of Sh. Harendra M. Karia, proprietor of M/s Link Enterprises, Gandhidham was recorded on 09.12.2009 wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated, that M/s Link Enterprises has purchased the bonded HSD as bunker trader from M/s BGH, for supply to the vessels under foreign run where S/B was filed with CH, Kandla in name of M/s BGH, Gandhidham; that they (M/s Link) used to place order for supply of bunker on the basis of which M/s BGH was filing the S/B for the quantity confirmed by them; that once the S/B was cleared by Customs, M/s Link Enterprises used to make payment first, to M/s BGH, for the quantity of bunker covered in the S/B, and then they used to take delivery of bunker as per the S/B from M/s BGH, at Kandla and thereafter M/s Link used to arrange the supply of bunker to the intended vessels at the ports viz. Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar and Pipavav. He was shown S/B No. No. F-2543/ 11.11.2005 vide which 196.290 MTs of HSD was shown as supplied to vessel MT Jag Anjali at Sikka Port. After perusing the same, he accepted that the name of supplying barge was not mentioned in the said S/B, however, he added that the subject supply was made through barge Hope Island owned by M/s BOSTL. He was further shown S/B No. F-1052/11.08.2006 showing supply of 19.79 MTs of HSD to vessel MT Jag Anjali at Sikka Port. After perusing the said S/B, he agreed to the fact that the name of supplying barge was not mentioned in the S/B and added that in that case bonded bunker was first dispatched from Kandla to Sikka through TTs, however, he was not aware as to through which barge it was supplied to vessel at Sikka anchorage, since the subject supply was handled by M/s Zee, Jamnagar from Sikka Port; that he was unable to provide any proof for the said supply; that he accepted that the subject supply was shown without statutory permission of “Let Export”; that he was aware that such supply was “illegal” since it was made without statutory permission of “Let Export”; that it was their (M/s Link) duty to obtain the said permission, from the concerned Customs authority, in which they got failed. He was further shown the S/B No. F-1112/ 21.08.2006 showing supply of 29.530 MTs of HSD to vessel MT Xiang Rui Men at Sikka Port. After perusing the same, he admitted that the name of the supplying barge was not mentioned in the S/B; that the said supply even if made to vessel was “illegal” as shown to have been made without statutory permission of ‘Let Export” order in the S/B. He was further shown S/B No. F-3124/10.03.2007 showing supply of 28.16 MTs of HSD to vessel MT Sonata at Vadinar. After perusing, he admitted that the subject supply was shown as made without statutory permission of “Let Export” order. He was further shown S/B No. F-87/11.04.2007, vide which supply of 93.240 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Mandlay at Vadinar Port. After perusing the same he stated that subject supply was handled by them, where they did not obtain statutory permission for “Let Export” as required under Section 51 of the CA, 1962, however, he claimed that subject supply was made through barge Hope Island. He was then shown the ORB of barge Hope Island at page no. 18 where supply of 50 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Mandlay, when asked as to whether he agreed to the fact that, even if, supply of HSD was made without “Let Export” order quantity of supply was only 50 MTs to which he stated that they had dispatched total 93.240 MTs of HSD through Hope Island, however, regarding the entry of 50 MTs as shown in ORB, could be explained by the barge operator only, as at the time of supply at Vadinar anchorage they were not physically present. He was further shown S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 under which supply of 29.360 MTs of HSD was shown as made to MT Jag Pratap at Sikka. After perusing the same he admitted that from the S/B the transportation of bunker from Kandla and upto supply to vessel at Sikka Port, could not be confirmed; that after taking delivery of the bunker covered under the S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007, though it was their (M/s Link) duty to ensure supply to vessel at Sikka in which they failed; that the subject supply was handled by M/s Zee Shipping Services at Sikka and they could be able to explain. He was further shown the S/B No. F-1102/31.07.2007, under which supply of 120 MTs of HSD was shown as made to Tug AHTS Sim Sim at Sikka Port. After perusing, he admitted that supply to Tug AHTS Sim Sim could not be confirmed, as nowhere in the said S/B, the name of supplying barge was mentioned; that even if supply was made, it was illegal in as much as it was made without “Let Export” order; that M/s Zee Shipping, would be able to explain in the matter since from Sikka Port, they had handled the subject supply. He was further shown letter Nos. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1458 dated 26.10.2007 and VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1749 dated 19.11.2007 of the Assistant Commissioner (Customs), CH, GPPL, Pipavav, under which clarification regarding supply of bonded HSD to vessels namely MV Asha Ashik, Tug Sea Way-5 were given and as per which the said vessels were reported neither arrived at Pipavav Port nor received any bunker at  the material time, to which after perusing the said letters, he stated that they were physically not involved in the two said supplies and therefore he was unable to say anything in this regard, as to where the bunkers were delivered; that though they (M/s Link) took the delivery of the bunkers covered under the above said two S/Bs, yet they failed to prove the supply to the vessel; that they (M/s Link) used to receive the bonded HSD (bunker) from M/s BGH, under the cover of S/Bs filed for “export of duty free goods ex-bond”, in the name of M/s BGH, and they were making payment to M/s BGH, in INR, then how they were paid for such supplies to which he stated that they were paid by the ship owners company in foreign exchange, however, some times by local bunker agents, shipping agents in INR; that it was like sale to M/s Link Enterprises, as only on making payment to M/s BGH Exim Ltd., in advance they were given delivery of the bonded HSD.
16.
Further, statement of Sh. Anurag C. Surana, Assistant Manager, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., was recorded on 12.01.2010, wherein he voluntarily inter-alia stated that theirs was a trading unit at Kandla, which had been importing bunker fuel namely HSD, FO at Kandla and clearing the same under In-to Bond Bs/E and subsequently the same were warehoused in the Warehousing Tanks of FOCT, FSWAI etc.; that they were getting duty free clearance of the imported HSD and FO under Warehousing Bs/E for supply of the same to the foreign going vessels, EOUs, SEZ units and Advance License holders only; that an undertaking had been executed by their company, from time to time in the Warehousing Bonds filed under Section 59 of the CA, 1962, for the aforesaid purpose; that on receipt of order and payment for supply of bunker from bunker traders viz. M/s Link Enterprises and M/s Gujarat Mariner, both at Gandhidham, they had been filing the S/B with the CH, Kandla; that they were issuing Delivery Order for terminal for S/B quantity in favour of bunker traders and who were then getting the product released from the Warehousing Terminals as per the Delivery Order; that thereafter the released product would be supplied to the vessel under cover of the S/Bs filed in name of M/s BGH, by the traders engaged; that M/s BGH never entered into any written agreement with the Bunker traders for supply of bunkers through traders though the bunkers were as per the S/Bs, was always handed over to the bunker traders after receipt of payment from them; that they never obtained any NOC from the Shipping Agent of the vessel intended to receive the bunker as such work was to be looked after by the bunker traders who were causing supply to vessels. that he joined the company in July, 2006 as Senior Officer, and since then he had  been handling the issue related to the supply of bunker in that capacity and subsequently as Assistant Manager on promotion; that for all the actions of the company looked after by him, he had  been reporting to his  immediate boss in the company i.e. Sh. G. C. Singhavi, Vice-President of M/s BGH; that he had been working as per his directions.
17.
Since, M/s. BGH Exim Ltd., DBZS/140, Ward-12-A, Gandhidham, M/s Gujarat Mariner, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham, M/s Link Enterprises, Plot No.-44, Sector-9/A, Gandhidham &  M/s Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar, were found involved in the diversion of the bonded bunkers “illegally”, as discussed above, hence, for their acts of omission and commission as can been seen from the statements above, a show cause notice bearing no. S/10-14/Adj./2011-12 dated 23.06.2011, were issued to them, which was answerable to the Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Customs House, Kandla, proposing the confiscation of 835.690 MTs of HSD valued at INR 2,51,69,234/- (diverted/exported illegally under 14 S/Bs), demand of Customs Duties to the tune of INR  71,39,375/- on the 835.690 MTs of HSD so exported/diverted illegally by them along with other penal and Interest provisions under the CA, 1962. S/Sh. Anurag C. Surana, Gyanchand C. Singhvi and Dushyant Patel were other co-noticees, in that matter, therefore penal action was also proposed, against them, under the provisions of the CA, 1962. 
18.
The said Show Cause Notice dated 23.06.2011, was adjudicated by the then  Commissioner of Customs, Kutch Commissionerate, Customs House, Kandla vide Order-in-Original (O-I-O) No. KDL/COMMR/45/2012-13 dated 21.12.2012, wherein the confiscation of 835.690 MTs of HSD was ordered, Customs duties of INR 71,39,375/- was confirmed and demanded along with recovery of interest thereon. Besides that, penalties were also imposed on the noticees under the appropriate provisions of the Customs Act, 1962. 

19.
As stated in para-supra aggrieved by the O-I-O dated 21.12.2012, the noticees filed appeal in CESTAT, West Zonal Bench, Ahmedabad. The CESTAT after hearing both sides recommended the matter to the original adjudicating authority for de-novo adjudication, keeping all issues open. 

20.
PERSONAL HEARING:

20.1
The matter was taken up for personal hearing on various dates viz. 06.08.2014, 08.04.2015, 13.07.2015, 05.08.2015, 04.09.2015, 21.09.2015 and on 16.10.2015. On 06.08.2014, M/s BGH, appeared for personal hearing for themselves and their employees viz. S/Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi and Anurag C. Surana, during which they reiterated that the allegations leveled against them are baseless and requested for copies of certain documents and cross-examinations of the witnesses, as ordered by the CESTAT vide its order dated 29.04.2013. 
20.2
The sets of the relied upon documents were provided to the noticees by the DRI, as informed by the Deputy Director, DRI, Jamnagar Regional Unit vide letter F. No. DRI/ JRU/INV-01/2007/1978 dated 12.02.2015, enclosing there under the copies of the acknowledgements dated 01.07.2011, indicating that the relied upon documents (as per annexure-C) to the Show Cause Notice, dated 23.06.2011, have already been duly received by one Sh. Rajiv Sharma, Sr. Sales Officer, M/s BGH Exim Ltd., on behalf of M/s BGH Exim Ltd., S/Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi and Anurag C. Surana. The cross-examination of the 11 witnesses was also allowed to them, as required by the noticees.
 20.3
The cross-examination qua S/Sh. Charles Mathew, Parag Uchat and H. H. Ravashia, all Inspectors was completed on 13.04.2015. Further, the cross-examination qua S/Sh. Rakesh Barai, Dushyant patel, C. R. Nair was completed on 15.06.2015. The cross-examination qua Sh. Harendra M Karia, prop. of M/s Link Enterprises and Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi, Vice-President Ms BGH was completed on 16.10.2015. The cross-examination w.r.t. S/Sh. Amit Dingwani, R Jayaraj and Prakash lad was waived on 15.06.2015, by M/s BGH.
21.
Defence submissions, discussions and findings:-  
M/s BGH Exim cross-examined the witnesses and filed their written submissions in their defence. I have gone through the cross-examination and written submission but do not find anything material, on the basis of which an opinion in favour of the noticees can be formed i.e. M/s BGH Exim and others are innocent and their acts of omissions and commissions can be justified within the four corners of the law. I proceed to discuss their submissions and my findings as under:- 
21.1
At the outset, they explained their activities and the procedure of bunker supplies according to them that they are a company and was allowed a Warehousing Licence No. 182 dated 24.05.2005 under Section 58 of the CA, 1962, for storage of HSD in storage tanks, for onward supply to foreign going vessels, 100% EOUs, units under Export Processing Zones and in the Free Trade Zones. They were allowed to import duty free HSD for being stored in the Bonded Warehouse for supplying to their customers as “Bunkers”. Accordingly, they used to procure HSD, by imports which was meant for supply as bunkers and used to be stored in the warehouse i.e. storage tanks, without payment of Customs Duties. Their storage tanks were located at Kandla Port, which were within the Port area and were under the supervision and control of Custom officers. The present case involves the period from July, 2006 to July, 2007. The DRI caused enquiries / investigation in respect of various private bonded warehouse licencees in year 2007, and in view of this general enquiry against several bunker suppliers, M/s BGH were also visited by DRI officers on 28.8.2007; and thereafter various panchnamas are made by DRI officers for seizure and recovery of various documents, papers, files etc., and statements of various persons were also recorded.


21.2
The Bunker (HSD) was imported duty free and stored in the licensed storage tanks, under the provisions of Section 58 of CA, 1962.  From there it was used to be supplied to various foreign run vessels that may have berthed at various Ports around Kandla viz. Sikka, Bedi, Mundra, Pipavav, Mul Dwarka, Vadinar, Porbandar, Okha etc. First they used to receive requisition (normally received through the Shipping Agents), from the Master / Chief Engineer of the vessel for the quantity of bunker required. A S/B was then filed mentioning therein prescribed details including the name of the vessel, name of the Port where the vessel had berthed, quantity of HSD etc., and on such S/B submitted at the Kandla, the Customs officer of Kandla used to put his stamp and signature, thereby allowing transfer and transportation of the bunker to the concerned Port. Since Bunker (HSD) was to be transported to minor ports e.g. Sikka, Vadinar etc.,  through TTs, the number of such TTs were also shown in the S/B. Whenever, such TTs were received at the concerned Port e.g. Sikka, the Custom officer in-charge of the Port used to make dated endorsement on the S/B about receipt of the TTs. At the receiving CH, entry of such S/B along with other details viz. name of the concerned vessel, quantity of bunker and also the Barge used for transferring HSD from TTs to the vessel lying at a little distance in sea waters was also made by the Custom officer. Since vessels at minor Ports like Sikka etc. are anchored at a distance in sea waters, and not at the jetty, the HSD was used to be transferred from TTs to a Barge and then the barge was taken to the concerned foreign run vessel, where HSD was unloaded from the Barge and loaded into the vessel. For such transfer from TTs to Barge and then from barge to the vessel, Custom officers were deputed, who personally used to supervise such transfer and final loading of bunkers to the foreign going vessels. After the bunker was supplied, details like the date of shipments were also entered into the register maintained there and the date of shipment with the stamp and signature of the Customs officer was also made on the S/B. The Master /CE of the vessel, also put his stamp and dated signature on the S/B thereby confirming receipt of the bunkers on board. A document “Landing Certificate” was also issued by the Custom officer in charge of such minor Port, which also contains stamp and signature of the Master /CE of the vessel, wherein the description and quantity of bunkers loaded in the vessel are mentioned. Since the bonded bunkers are goods allowed to be imported and stored duty free, the bunker supplier had to execute a Transit Bond at Kandla Customs while transporting and transferring bunkers in TTs to the minor ports. After bunkers were supplied to the ocean going vessel & confirmation thereof was issued by the Customs at the receiving port and also on the basis of the landing certificate issued by such Custom officers, the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Kandla used to cancel the transit bond. The transaction of bunker supply stood concluded once the A.C. (Bond) of CH, Kandla ordered the cancellation of the bond and put his signature and stamp on such order/endorsement and the Bank Guarantee was used to be returned by them by the Customs, Kandla. As regard payment of such bunkers, they received the payment either from the Shipping Agents or from the brokers through whom the deal was finalized.  Payments were always received through cheques which were duly accounted for, in the books of accounts of the company, which were subject to audit. This method of supplying bunkers was followed completely and scrupulously, in respect of the 14 transactions involved in the present case.

21.3
M/s BGH Exim, defended the allegations leveled against them stating that the Show Cause Notice issued against them is baseless and without merits. The goods cannot be confiscated and the demand of Customs duty is time barred. They lay their emphasis that the “proper officers” of Customs have confirmed during their cross examination before you that all the above quantities of HSD were delivered to ocean going vessels in their presence and that they have supervised loading of all such HSD on to the concerned ocean going vessels and appropriate entries of such supplies actually made to ocean going vessels have also been made in the register maintained at their respective Customs House. 

21.4
Para 2:- 
They submitted that it is a fact that no action was taken against any of such Customs officers for any charges like dereliction of duty or negligence or collusion or the like; and it is also an admitted fact in this proceedings that the clarifications and confirmations of these officers about supply of the above HSD to ocean going vessels are not disputed or doubted, nor is any evidence brought on record showing that these officers were lying or tendering incorrect information; and therefore the whole case against us that 835.690 MTs of HSD was actually not delivered to the ocean going vessels is false and unauthorized.  There is no evidence to the effect that any quantity of HSD was sold / delivered to any person in India or that as to whom had purchased or received such HSD in the country, if it was not actually delivered to ocean going vessels. All the minor and insignificant discrepancies in one or the other documents concerning such supplies of HSD to ocean going vessels have been explained away by various persons who have been cross examined in the de-novo proceedings. 
I hardly find any merits in this submission. Any action, if, not initiated against the departmental Customs Officers do not have any cascading effect or co-relation with the offence committed by the noticees, herein. Moreover, the then learned Commissioner of Customs, while passing the O-I-O dated 21.12.2012 had appreciated and foreseen this fact and recommended to the jurisdictional Commissioner to initiate the vigilance action against them, if found, guilty. Further, the noticees cannot prove themselves innocent by showing / pointing out the guilt of others. In, fact the noticees, were benefited by the negligence of the duty, if any, on the part of the Customs officers posted at the recipient port at that relevant time. The offence, committed by the noticees is complete, once the duty free goods were not reached and received at the intended foreign going vessels, since it is clear breach of the bond executed by them with Customs at Kandla, while importing duty free goods. For commission of an offence in Revenue cases, such as in the instant case, it is sufficient that the very purpose of duty free import is defeated. In the case of Ranbaxy Laboratories Ltd. vs Union of India & Ors., the Supreme Court had rightly held that “It is a well settled proposition of law that a fiscal legislation has to be construed strictly and one has to look merely at what is said in the relevant provision; there is nothing to be read in; nothing to be implied and there is no room for any intendment.”
21.5
Para 6 (a to c- Cross-Examination of Customs officers): - The Customs officers during their cross-examination admitted that a S/B register was being maintained at the recipient Port wherein name of the vessel, S/B no. & date etc. were mentioned; that Let Export Order (LEO) was made on the S/B by Customs authority at Kandla while allowing transport of bunkers to Port, and only one LEO was required on the S/B, and no second LEO was given by their office; they were not aware of any legal requirement for mentioning the name of the barge on the S/B; that they used to write the name of the Sepoy/Group-D staff officer, in the Permission letter for bunker supply, if deputed for physical verification of bunkers, though it was rare yet even in such rare cases, they were signing the S/B only after they (Sepoy/ Group-D staff officer) reported to them that bunker was supplied under their supervision.


I do not find any merits in these contentions. Firstly it was the duty of the Customs Inspectors, posted over there and they cannot shoulder off their responsibility of inspection/supervision. Secondly, the Customs Inspectors, in their cross-examination had admitted that no record was maintained, in cases any Sepoy/ Group-D staff officer, was deputed for physical verification of bunkers supply. They had also admitted that LEO is necessary for physical export of stores out of India or for any foreign going vessel and second LEO is not required. As regards mentioning of name of barge to be mentioned in the S/B, I find that in the Bill of Export for duty free goods ex-bond, in one column, there is an entry as “Lorry No./Goods Train and Wagon no.”, and that the “carrier’s name & Lorry No./Goods Train and Wagon no., may be altered after check with original”, which clearly indicates that the mode of transport needs to be mentioned in the Shipping Bill, invariably. Further, in the S/B they used to submit I find columns that reads “Pre-Carriage by” and “place of receipt by Pre Carrier” 
21.6
Para 6 (d to f – Cross Examination of S/Sh. Rakesh Barai, Dushyant Patel and Harender Karia): -
From the cross-examination of the above named persons its comes to the surface that their staff used to accompany the export cargo and the information viz. name of the vessel / barge, quantity of bunker and name of the supervising Custom officers were used to mentioned in the register maintained at CH, Sikka. The payment was used to be received by/handed over to them only when the quantity of bunker was certified by the Master/Chief Engineer, and the documents evidencing delivery of bunker to the concerned vessel were supplied to the owner/ charterer/broker/agent. There was no requirement of mentioning name of the supplying Barge on the S/B, but the Custom officers used to enquire about the name of the Barge, quantity of bunker, name of the vessel etc., and such details were recorded in a register by the officers at recipient port. The Custom officers used to check seals of the tankers first and then they also used to put seals on the barges, and the Custom officers used to supervise loading of the bunkers in the vessel, for which Sepoys were also sent by the officers in some cases. All the bunkers were duly delivered and loaded on to the foreign going vessels. After completion of supply of bunker, the Assistant Commissioner of Customs cancelled the transit bond and returned the Bank Guarantee. There was no difference between “Let Export” and Order for “allowed for shipment”, because for the suppliers like them permission in nature of allowed for shipment was an order for allowing shipment and exports. Though at one place Sh. Rakesh Barai and Sh. Harender Karia, in response to a question individually stated about “a lot of pressure from the investigating officer” and because of that they “may have signed the statement (given by them before the DRI officers)”   

As mentioned above the question, regards mentioning of name of barge in the S/B has already been answered by me in para-supra. Further, Sh. Dushyant Patel during his cross-examination had stated that it was necessary to record the numbers of TTs when bunker was to be transferred from Kandla and therefore such details were recorded by them, but name of the barge was not being recorded initially in the shipping bill and they started recording name of the barge also when the Custom officers later on asked to do so, which indicates that it was in their practice that the name of the barge, should be mentioned invariably in the S/B. As regards the certification/signature by Master/Chief Engineer of the vessel, Sh. Amit Dingwani admittedly used to put his signature purportedly for Master/Chief Engineer of the vessel on the documents, on being instigated by M/s Zee Shipping. It is pertinent to mention here that the cross examination was waived by the importers. Further, it is an admitted fact that “LEO” is required, to be given by Superintendent (Customs), for effecting any physical export out of India which further paves way for “allowed for shipment”. As regards the allegation regarding the pressure from DRI officers /investigating officers, I find that such allegations has come after 06-07 years, and there is no material, on record, before me to support such allegations or that they had ever admitted/complained that the statements tendered by them before the investigating officers under Section 108 of the Customs Act, 1962, in connection with the instant case were “otherwise voluntary”. I find that the allegations are an afterthought and made on legal advice with sole intent to mis-lead/mis-guide the proceedings.
21.7
Para 6 (g–Cross Examination of Sh. C R Nair): - Sh. C.R. Nair of M/s. Atlantic Shipping Pvt. Ltd., during his cross-examination clarified that there was no legal provision or convention requiring NOC from agents like their firm for bunker supplies and confirmed that no written direction was given by any Customs authorities to them for such NOC, but Custom officers verbally instructed for the same. 

I find that in his voluntary statement dated 04.02.2008 he admitted that it was obligatory on the part of the bunker suppliers to obtain the NOC from the shipping agent. I, find that his above statement was voluntary and not retracted at any point of time. However, in any case it is clear that there was a practice of issuance of NOC, which was not followed in the instant matter.  
21.8
Para 6 (h – Cross Examination of Sh. G. C. Singhvi): - Sh. G.C. Singhvi, was also cross-examined during the proceedings and tried to explain that there was no such anomalies and irregularities in the bunker supply documents as narrated in the Annexure-A to the Show Cause Notice, by referring various documents as well as statements of several persons, which is on record. I find that this was the main defence of the noticees herein and the same has been discussed point-wise hereunder: 
(i) S/B No. F-770/13.07.2006 for supply of 235.92 MTs of HSD at Tug Intersurf at Pipavav :- Had DRI collected the documents from GPPL about arrival of subject TUG to port, it would have been proved that the TUG Intersurf and TUG Sea Ways5 were towing the much publicized vessel “BLUE LADY” at that material time (which was under the supervision of Supreme Court committee and awaiting SC order for berthing) and was in Pipavav from 30.6.2006 till 14.07.07 as per media reports. The Company has the following documents proving supply of bunkers, S/B (Duly signed in all aspect including LEO), Master’s Requisitions, Short Shipment Certificate, Landing Certificate, FORM KK, Sale Purchase Agreement. Moreover, the quantity mentioned in SCN is wrong.  Actual qty. of bunker was 219.40 MT instead of 235.92 MT. One vehicle which could not give delivery of bunker was returned back and re-deposited in warehouse.  The certificate in this regard is also available with BGH.  

(b)
The actual facts are different.  Mr. Anurag in his statement had nowhere admitted that it was responsibility of their Company to ensure physical supply of bunker because no such responsibility was cast upon the bunker supplier. 

(c)
 There is no admission on part of Sh. G. C. Singhvi and he had stated to a question at answer 9, that Sh. Anurag Surana, might be able to explain in detail, and that since physical delivery was arranged by the bunker traders, they would be aware of the facts of the case.
(d)
The reply taken from Mr. Dushyant is quite confusing as it is taken for leader-1 and later on just a line was added for Tug Intersurf as “I have seen and signed the above and letters and after perusing the same I state that except Tug Intersurf as far as I know we arranged for supply of bunker under S/B Nos. F-2663/22.01.2007 and F-2666/23.01.2007 through Tanker Trucks (TTS) to the AC, Customs, Pipavav Port.  I have further to say after perusing the said letters of the AC, Customs, Pipavav, that we received order from M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for the supplies to MV Leaders-1 and we received payment in Indian rupees from M/s. Zee Shipping Services only for the subject supply.  I will confirm whether bunker was actually supplied to the vessel or not within one week. I further have to say that we were not involved in case of Tug Intersurf and therefore I cannot say whether supply was made to vessel or not.” This reply of Mr. Dushyant does not confirm that his firm had not dealt with bunker supply in question. Letter of Gujarat Marine is available with them requesting for bunker supply.


I find that the facts are different from what they had represented. The verification from the Customs House, GPPL, Pipavav it was reported by the concerned Assistant Commissioner, Customs, GPPL, Pipavav, that the vessel Tug Intersurf had never arrived at Pipavav i.e. in Indian Customs Waters, and therefore question of receiving HSD does not arise. 
b.
I find that in the instant case it is very relevant to examine whether the noticees M/s BGH Exim had made physical supply to vessel as per the S/B or otherwise, since they are the one who had executed the bond with the Customs and they are the exporters in terms of S/B filed at CH, Kandla. I find that they simply handed over the bunker to the bunker traders at Kandla for making onwards supply to vessel. While submitting the bond, they undertook to ensure supply of the bunkers to the destination, in which they failed.
c. 
I find that Sh. G. C. Singhavi, on perusing the report received from Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Pipavav, during his statement dated 16.04.2009, admitted the facts stated therein.

d. 
I find that it is quite strange that the confusion arose after 06 years. The statement dated 08.12.2009 of Sh. Dushyant was voluntary, moreover, no question was put or clarification of any kind was sought for from Sh. Patel (w.r.t. to this confusion) during his cross examination conducted by them, in the instant adjudication proceedings (It is always better to have the truth direct from the horse’s mouth). In this S/B, the bunker trader were M/s Gujarat Mariner (claimed by M/s BGH Exim Ltd.), who was engaged in the subject supply and the proprietor Sh. Dushyant Patel denied to have dealt the subject supply as bunker trader.  
(ii) S/B No. F-964 & 965 /04.08.2006 for supply of 67.290 MTs of HSD at Tug Sea Way-5 at Pipavav :- Had DRI collected the documents from GPPL about arrival of subject TUG to the Port, it would have provided the presumption of DRI wrong as TUG Intersurf and TUG Sea Way–5 were towing the much publicized vessel Blue Lady at the material time and was at Pipavav from 30.6.2006 till 14.7.2007 as per media reports. Blue Lady was under the supervision of Supreme Court Committee and awaiting SC order for berthing. The Company has documents proving supply of bunker, e.g. S/B (duly signed in all aspect including LEO), Master’s Requisitions, Short Shipment Certificate, Landing Certificate, Form KK, Sale Purchase Agreement, cancelled Transit Bond, etc. 

(b)
No admission by Mr. Anurag, the relevant portion of his reply (answer 3), is “We rely on the S/Bs returned to us by the local bunker traders and agents through which we made supply of HSD to the vessels under the S/Bs filed in our name. we are not aware whether the vessels is present at the port concern or not where we are supposed to supply bunker under S/Bs filed in the name of M/s. BHG Exim Ltd. as supply is looked after by the agents. As regards supply of 70 empty of HSD to TUG Sea Way – 5, we again have the copy of the SB with us showing supply to said vessel under signature of inspector of customs and CE of the recipient vessel.”
Answer-4 “We were not supplied with any masters requisition issued by the master of the vessels MV Asha Ashik and TUG Sea Way-5 for the said Bunker supply. But simply we were sent the Bunker nomination form by Sh. Anil Karai of m/s. Link Enterprises in both the S/Bs. Again in the subject case of Bunker supply we are unable to produce the copies of the sale purchased contract. I am not sure as to whether any contract was signed at that time or otherwise as I was not looking after the same at the material time however, on the basis of other documents I can say that the payment was received from M/s. Link Enterprise by cheques.” 

(c)
There was no such admission on his part (Sh. Singhvi), his reply was “I have seen and signed the letter and after pursuing the same my reply is the same as given under answer no.9 above i.e. Sh. Anurag Surana and the bunker traders would be aware of the facts of the case”. 

(d)
The partner of Link Enterprises Mr. Karia's reply was “I have seen the above said letters of the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Custom House, GPPL, and Pipavav and after perusing the same I find the report confirming, that the two vessels had not arrived at Pipavav Pot at the material time. I have to say that we were physically not involved in the two said supplies and therefore we are unable to say anything in this regard, as where the bunker was delivered, I further admit that we took the delivery of the bunker covered under the above said two S/Bs however, we failed to prove the supply to vessel. However I further state that after confirming from my office about the exact details I will report to your goodself.” He had not stated that they failed to prove the supply of bunker to the vessel in terms of S/B.

I find that the CH, Pipavav had reported that the Tug Sea Way-5 had not come to Pipavav and hence question of receiving any bunker does not arise. 

b. & c

As discussed in para (i) above. 

d.
From the emphasis supplied (of statement dated 09.12.2009 of the Mr. Karia proprietor of M/s Link Enterprises) I found that though they took delivery of the bunker from M/s BGH Exim Ltd. at Kandla, however, he was unable to comment as to where the bunker was delivered i.e. he failed to prove the supply of bunker to the intended vessel. Further, he admitted that he would provide the exact details, which were never provided by him.  
(iii)
S/B No. F-1052/ 11.08.2006 for supply of 20 MTs of HSD at MT Jag Anjali at Sikka Port:-  The Company has S/B duly signed and stamped by Customs officers of CH, Kandla & Sikka with 'allowed for shipment' signed & stamped, short shipment, contract, transit bond, Duly cancelled by the Asstt. Commissioner of Customs Kandla, landing certificate and master requisition.

(b)
EGM filing is not controlled by them.

(c)
S/B was duly signed by Inspector (Customs) Sikka with wording delivered under his supervision.

(d)
The S/B was signed by the PO, CH, Kandla as well as by Inspector, CH, Sikka & ‘allowed for shipment' was also signed & stamped, Supply was made through Barge Zee 11. It was confirmed by Zee Shipping as per supporting documents available with SCN.

(e)
Clearance was not the document controlled by them. Further in their application and departure report date of departure was 15.08.2006.


(f)
Port Clearance was not the document controlled by us. Further, Mr. Anurag's reply was “I show the copy of the triplicate S/B, as presented by me on 21.01.2008 during my earlier statement according to which bunker is shown supplied on 14.08.2006. Signature of CE made on reverse of said S/B, does not match with his signature as made on the crew effect declaration in corresponding EGM No. F.2666/ 18.08.2006. I am also being shown the Port clearance in the said EGM wherein date of sailing of the vessel is changed from 14.08.2006 to 15.08.2006 through overwriting, but the Port Clearance is shown received by Master of vessel on 14.08.2006. As per, Port Clearance the vessel is shown to have sailed on 15.08.2006.” and that “No, I am not able to produce the relevant documents showing supply to MT Jag Anjali at Sikka as we do not have the same.” Thus, the explanation of Mr. Anurag nowhere admits any anomalies, and Mr. Anurag has also not admitted that supply of bunker was not made to the concerned vessel.

As regards (g)
The partner of Link Enterprise Mr. Karia's reply was “I have perused the S/B No. F-1052/ 11.08.2006, and after perusing the same I state that in the present supply 15.75mt of HSD covered under S/B, was dispatched from Kandla port to Sikka Port through tanker Trucks (TTs) and then from Sikka port the said bunker was supplied to MT Jag Anjali through barge, which I don't know, as the subject supply was handled by M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar at Sikka Port. I am unable to provide any proof of supply from Sikka Port/Jetty to vessel MT Jag Anjali.” and that “After perusing the S/B No. F-1052/ 11.08.2006 I admit that supply to vessel was shown without statutory permission for "Let Export" and I know that such supply is illegal for the reasons of being shown without Let Export Order.” He has nowhere admitted that supply of bunker was not actually made to the concerned ocean going vessel.


I find that the EGM No. F-266/18.08.2006 of MT Jag Anjali, forwarded by CH, Sikka had only photocopy of duplicate S/B from which it was not clear how and when the bunker was supplied to vessel.

b.
Though EGM filing is not controlled by M/s BGH, yet the information w.r.t. “stores” to be entered in the EGM, is to be supplied/ corroborated by the information in the S/B. It is correct that although the EGM of the vessel was used to be signed by the Master of vessel, it was found showing receipt of bunker under the said S/B, yet the duplicate copy of S/B (in original) was not enclosed in the EGM which should have been there. Further, Sh. Amit Dingwani had admittedly put his signatures purportedly for Master/CE of the vessels, in a no. of cases.
c.
The supply of bunker to vessel, if made any, was shown without any “LEO”, which was illegal and was in violation of Section 51 and Section 113 (g) of the CA,1962. 

d.
The endorsement of PO (Bond), Kandla at the S/B indicates that the bunker was to be transported to Sikka port through TTs. But then it was not confirmed by anybody as to how it was supplied upto the vessel at Sikka anchorage from Sikka Jetty. If it was supplied thorough barge, then the name of the barge should come out in the statements / investigation, which is not there.
e.
As per the Port Clearance No. F-280/14.08.2006, enclosed in EGM of vessel, the subject vessel was originally shown sailed on 14.08.2006 at 0730 Hrs. however, at later stage the date of sail was changed through deliberate overwriting, to 15.08.2006. It was not possible to receive any Ship Store since after Port Clearance no vessel can receive any store and no Customs Officer is authorized to supervise the supply. 

f.
The signature of CE of the vessel was different from his own signature appended in the documents like “Crew Effect Declaration” enclosed in the EGM. It was also admitted by Sh. Anurag C. Surana, on 17.03.2008, after perusing the S/B and the connecting EGM. He also admitted that supply to vessel was shown after Port Clearance was handed to the Master of the vessel and no Master of any Vessel would receive any Ship Store after receipt of Port Clearance. From the emphasis of statement of Sh. Anurag supplied in the defence, it is clear that PORT CLEARNACE WAS RECEIVED BY THE MASTER ON 14.08.2006. It is impossible to receive any Ship Store after receipt of Port clearance. 
g.
Sh. Harendra Karia, in his voluntary statement dated 09.12.2009, had admitted that he was unable to provide any proof of supply in the subject case. Further, from the emphasis supplied (of statement dated 09.12.2009 of the Mr. Karia proprietor of M/s Link Enterprises) I found that though they took delivery of the bunker from at Kandla in TTs, however, he was unable to confirm as to where the bunker was delivered at anchorage in TTs i.e. he failed to prove the supply of bunker to the intended vessel. Further, he admitted that the supply, even if made, was illegal without LEO, under the provisions of the CA, 1962.  
(iv)
S/B No. F-1112/ 21.08.2006 for supply of 29.53 MTs of HSD at MT Xiang Rui MM at Sikka Port:-  The Company has got the S/B, duly signed and stamped by the Inspector, CH, Sikka, with the wordings "Escorted & delivered on board MV Xing Rui Min' under my supervision. Further the company has with them Landing Certificate, Sale Purchase Agreement, Transit Bond.

(b)
Signature look similar, signature may not look the same due to the distorted nature of the S/B. In this regard Mr. Anurag's reply was “I HAVE SEEN AND SIGNED Xerox of the triplicate S/I3 No. F-1112/21.08.2006 and the EGM of the recipient vessel bearing no. F-303/31.08.2006 and after perusing the same I admit that bunker supply is not confirmed. I am unable to explain how the supply was made. Also after perusing the crew effect declaration enclosed in the said EGM I agree to the fact that signature of CE on the S/B is altogether different from that on the Crew effect Declaration. The bunker under the said S/B was through M/s. Link Enterprises and they arranged the supply. Therefore, they will be able to reply in the matter. However on the basis of the bunker supply documents I have to say that supply in the subject case is not confirmed.” He had nowhere admitted that the signatures of the CE were different, and no such discrepancy was accepted by him.

(c)
The S/B (all copies) were signed by the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector CH, Silkka, and had sign on 'Allowed for shipment' from CH, Sikka.

(d)
 Mr. Amirag's reply was “I. have seen and signed Xerox of the triplicate S/B No. F-1112/21.08.2006 and the EGM of the recipient vessel bearing no. F-303/ 31.08.2006 and after perusing the .same I admit that bunker supply is not confirmed. I am unable to explain how the supply was made. Also after perusing the crew effect declaration enclosed in the said EGM I agree to the fact that signature of CE on the S/B is altogether different from that on the Crew effect Declaration, the bunker under the said S/B was through M/s. Link Enterprises and they arranged the supply. Therefore, they will be able to reply in the matter. However on the basis of the bunker supply documents I have to say that supply in the subject case is not confirmed.” He had in the above statement neither confirmed nor admitted that supply of bunker of HSD was not made.

(e)
The reply of Mr. Harendra Karia was “I have perused the S/B No. F-1112/ 21.08.2006 and after perusing the same I admit that transportation in the subject supply is not proved as nowhere in the said S/B name of supplying barge is mentioned, I also admit that the subject supply even if made to vessel is illegal as the same is shown to have been made without statutory permission of 'Let Export` order in the S/B.” His above reply was not in the nature of any admission about their fault or failure in securing any statutory permission.

I find that the EGM No. F-303/31.08.2006 of the vessel forwarded by CH, Sikka was found without any S/B of bonded bunker as shown by M/s BGH. Further, the EGM also did not show any bunker receipt during the material time at Sikka. 

b.
In the photocopies of duplicate S/B and original S/B received from CH, Kandla, the name of the supplying barge was not mentioned. Further, the signature of the CE on both the copies were different from his own signature on the Crew Effect Declaration enclosed in the EGM of the vessel and therefore not genuine. During his statement on 13.08.2008 Sh. Anurag Surana of BGH Exim Ltd., after perusing the EGM of vessel and the xerox of the triplicate S/B presented by him, admitted the above fact regarding signature of CE being different from his own signature on Crew Effect Declaration in EGM of the said vessel. This is also mentioned in the emphasis supplied by the defence.
c.
From the copies of the S/B (of original and duplicate)  it was amply clear that supply to vessel was shown without statutory permission for “Let Export” as required under Section 51 of the Act and therefore such supply even if made being illegal in terms of Section 113 (g) of the Act. 

d.
The correct name is Anurag and not Amirag. Sh. Anurag Surana in his statement dated 13.08.2008 admitted that from the S/B and the EGM seen by him supply of HSD to vessel was not confirmed. This is also mentioned in the emphasis supplied by the defence.

e.
Sh. Harendra Karia, being bunker trader in the subject case, on 09.12.2009 admitted the fact of illegal supply of bunker to vessel for the reasons no “Let Export” permission was obtained before causing supply to vessel. He also admitted that it was their fault that they failed to secure statutory permission for “Let Export”.
(v)
S/B No. F-2672/23.01.2007 for supply of 55 MTs of HSD at MV Cher at Bedi Port:- The company had the Custom Signed & Stamped S/B by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka on the "let export' & 'allowed for shipment', Landing Certificate, Master Requisition etc.
(b)
It was merely an omission.

(c)
The documents received alongwith the SCN had M/s. Geo-chem's draft survey report which clearly states on vessel arrival (23.01.2007) HSD ROB was 5MTs and on departure (31.31.2007) HSD BOB was 45 MTs, hence confirming the bunker supplied.

(d)
Mr. Anurag Surana’s statement was not correct “It generally takes around two days for voyage from kandla to Vadinar anchorage by Hope Island. Then showing also aspect of the tide positions some time have been consumed along with in loading of bunker. therefore around 4- 5 days is consumed in transportation of bunker from Kandla to Vadinar anchorage.” His above statement did not show that supply to vessel in question was not genuine, and no such admission was made by him in this statement.

I observed from the records that the EGM No. F-120/31.01.2007 of the vessel forwarded by CH, Jamnagar does not show receipt of any bunker by the vessel at Bedi Port. EGM forwarded by Customs, Jamnagar did not have duplicate S/B in original.

b.
It was planned and not merely an omission. As per the S/B bunker appeared to have been dispatched from Kandla to Bedi through TTs, but how it was transferred to vessel at anchorage of Bedi and through which barge, was nowhere mentioned. It is quite strange that they simply contended this as an omission. 

c.
M/s BGH claimed to have effected the supply through Zee (name of barge), which was found non-existent. Further, the details provided by M/s Zee Shipping, Jamnagar regarding dump barge Zee-II, which was owned by them, and said to be used in supply of to the vessel, did not show any supply ever made of HSD to MV Cher at Bedi. 

d.
As per statement dated 22.01.2008 of Sh. Anurag Surana, any single supply of bunker from Kandla to any vessel at Sikka, Vadinar or Bedi would take around 4-5 days, however, in the present case the S/B was shown to be filed on 23.01.2007 and bunker was shown as dispatched from Kandla on 23.01.2007 and then supply to vessel was shown on 24.01.2007, which appears not genuine in view of the above statement. The defence did not bring out any the factual position. Further this fact is also corroborated by their defence for point (c) for S/B F-3124/10.03.2007, at sr. no. (viii), wherein they admit that the S/B was filed on 10.03.2007, and the goods reached to their destination on 14.03.2007.
(vi)
S/B No. F-2666/23.01.2007 for supply of 14.92 MTs of HSD at MV Leader-I at Pipavav Port: - The company was not in receipt of any document with the SCN. However they had on their records that the S/B was signed & stamped by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Pipavav, with sign on LEO & 'allowed on shipment' with stamp of Pipavav customs, Short shipment, Landing certificate, transit bond duly cancelled by CH, Kandla.

(b)
They state that the supply was done by M/s, World Link & not by M/s. Link Enterprises. Mr. Anurag's reply in this respect was “I have seen and signed letter F. No. VIII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL07-08 dated 04-10- 2007 of the assistant commissioner of customs, GPPL, Piavav and after perusing the same I am presenting the xerox copy of the triplicate S/B No, 420/31.05.2006 which, shows receipt of Bunker under endorsement of Inspector of customs and chief engineer of vessel MV Doha-I on date 02.06.2006. Likewise I am also presenting copy of the duplicate S/B No. 2663/22.01.2007 & F-2666/22.01.2007 duly endorsed: by the customs Inspector of Pipavav and Chief Engineer of vessel showing receipt of bunker on. 23.01.2007.” and that “Neither I nor any personal of M/s BGH Exim Ltd. was present at Pipavav Port at the time of Hunker supply to vessels MV Dolia, I and MT Leader-I and the whole supply; was looked after by M/s. Bharat Petro in case of MV Doha-I and by M/s. World Link TC Bond store in case of MT Leader-I, we had received payment from M/s. Bharat Petro in case of MV Doha-I and from M/s. World Link TC Bond Store in case of MT Leader-1.”  His above statement nowhere suggests that the concerned bunker supplies were not received by the vessels or that bunker was not actually delivered to ocean going vessels.

(c)
Mr. Singhvi  had seen and signed the above said letters and after perusing the same he had said that Sh. Anurag Surana, might be able to explain in detail. However, he further clarified that since physical delivery was arranged by the bunker traders, they would be aware of the facts of the case.

(d)
Sh. Singhvi state that Sh. Dushyant’s reply was  “I have seen and signed the above said letters and after perusing the same I state that except Tug Intersurf as far as I know we arranged for supply of bunker under S/B NO.s F-2663/22.01.2007 and F-2666/23,01.2007 through Tanker Trucks (TTs) to MV Leader-I at Pipavav Port. I have further to say after perusing the said letters of the AC, Customs, Pipavav, that we received order from M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for the supplies to MV Leader-1 and we received payment in Indian Rupees from M/s. Zee Shipping Services only of the subject Supply. I will confirm whether bunker was actually supplied to the vessel or not within one week. Hurter have to say that we were not involved in case of Tug Intersurf and therefore -I cannot say whether supply was made to vessel or not.” and that  “We presume that M/s. Zee Shipping Services received order from-Ship Owner's company and thereafter only we received bunker from Ws. BGH Exim-Ltd. for supply to the said vessel. As regarding report of the customs authority of customs house, pipavav for non-supply of bunker to MV Leader-2, I will present the relevant records within a week.” He might not reported to DRI after his statement, but that does not mean that he admitted that bunker was not supplied to the concerned ocean going vessel.

 
I find that on verification from CH, Pipavav it was reported vide letter F.No. VII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08 dated 04.10.2007 and No. VIII/IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08/1458 dated 26.10.2007, that the vessel MV Leader -I did not receive any bunker.

b.
The letters of the AC, Customs, Pipavav was shown to Sh. Anurag Surana, during his examination on 17.03.2008. After perusing, he admitted the above fact and stated that M/s BGH Exim Ltd., had not concerned itself with physical supply to vessel as per the S/B and they simply handed over the bunker to the bunker trader (M/s Link Enterprises in the present case) at Kandla for making supply to vessel.  

c.
Sh. Singhavi, was also shown the above report of Customs, Pipavav and after perusing the same he admitted the fact as stated therein.

d.
On being asked about the above report of Customs confirming non-supply to vessel, Sh. Dushyant Patel, stated that he would report after confirming from his office, which he never informed.

(vii)
S/B No. F-666/22.01.2007 for supply of 16.97 MTs of HSD at MV Leader-I at Pipavav Port: - For MT Doha –I, the company had in their records, S/B duly signed by the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka, with signed LEO & 'allowed for shipment', short shipment, landing certificate, transit bond duly cancelled by the Kandla customs,

(b)
Sh. Singhvi had stated that the supply was done by M/s. World Link & not by M/s. Link Enterprises. In this respect, Mr. Anurag's reply was “I have seen and signed letter F. No. VIII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL07-08 dated 04-10-2007 of the assistant commissioner of customs, GPPL, Piavav and after perusing the same I am presenting the xerox copy of the triplicate S/B No..420/31.05.2006 which shows receipt of Bunker under endorsement of Inspector of customs and chief engineer of vessel MV Doha-I on date 02.06,2006. Likewise I am also presenting copy of the duplicate S/13 No. 2663/22.012007 & F-2666/22.012007 duly endorsed by the customs Inspector of Pipavav and chief Engineer of vessel showing receipt of bunker on 23.01.2007.” and that  “Neither I nor any personal of M/s BGH Exim Ltd. was present at Pipavav Port at the time of Bunker supply to vessels MV Doha-I and MT Leader-I and the whole suppl. was looked after by M/s. Bharat Petro in case of MV Doha-I and by As. World Link TC Bond store in case of MT Leader-L we had received payment from M/s. Bharat Petro in case of MV Doha-I and from M/s. World Link TC Bond Store in case of MT Leader-1.”

(c)
Sh. Singhvi had seen and signed the above said letters and after perusing the same he stated that Sh. Anurag Surana, may be able to explain in detail. However he further clarified that since physical delivery was arranged by the bunker traders, they would be aware of the facts of the case.

(d)
Mr. Dushyant's reply was “I have seen and signed the above said letters and after perusing the same I state that except Tug Intersurf as far as I know we arranged for supply of bunker under S/B NO,s F-2663/22.01,2007 and F-2666/ 23.01.2007 through Tanker Trucks (TTs) to MV Leader-1 at Pipavav Port. I have further to say after perusing the said letters of the AC, Customs, Pipavav, that we received order from Ws. Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for the supplies to MV Leader-I and we received payment in Indian Rupees from M/s, Zee Shipping Services only of the subject supply. I will confirm whether bunker was actually supplied to the vessel or not within one week, I further have to say that we were not involved in case of Tug Intersurf and therefore I cannot say whether supply was made to vessel or not.” And that “We presume that M/s, Zee Shipping Services received order from Ship Owner's company and thereafter only we received bunker from M/s: BGH Exim Ltd. for supply to the said vessel. As regarding report of the customs authority of customs house, Pipavav for non-supply of bunker to MV Leader-2, I will present the relevant records within a week.” Thus, Sh. Dushyant has already tendered his explanation for the concerned queries.


I find that on verification from the CH, Pipavav it was reported vide letter F. No. VII/48-IGM-EGM/GPPL/07-08 dated 04.10.2007, that MT Doha-I did not receive any bunker.

b.
The letter of the AC, Customs, Pipavav was shown to Sh. Anurag Surana, who after perusing the same admitted the above fact and stated that M/s BGH Exim Ltd., had not concerned itself with physical supply to vessel as per the S/B and they simpoly handed over the bunker to the bunker trader (M/s Link Enterprises in the present case) at Kandla for making supply to vessel.  

c.
Sh. Singhavi, was also shown the above report of Customs, Pipavav during his statement dated 16.04.2009 and after perusing the same, without contending further in the matter he admitted the fact as stated therein.

d. 
On being asked about the above report of Customs confirming non-supply to vessel, Sh. Dushyant Patel, Proprietor of the bunker trader company M/s Gujarat Mariner in the subject case stated that he would report after confirming from his office which he never reported.

(viii)
S/B No. F-3124/10.03.2007 for supply of 28.16 MTs of HSD at MT Sonata at Vadinar Port: - The supply was done by M/s, Link Enterprises & not M/s. Gujarat Mariners. Copy of the S/B with clearly visible reverse side was available. As per the documents received with SCN the duplicate S/B bears the sign & stamp of the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka Customs and has sign on the 'Allowed for Shipment'. and short shipment.

(b)
I state that supply was done by M/s. Link Enterprises & not M/s. Gujarat Mariners, Copy of the S/B with clearly visible reverse side was available. As per the documents received with SCN the duplicate S/B has sign & stamp of the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka and had sign on the 'Allowed for Shipment' and short shipment.

(c)
Sh. Singhvi states that it was shown in the ORB as  “Date: 14.03.2007, II Code (letter) C, il Item (number) 6,7,8 II Record of operations/Rank and signature of officer in charge: Vadinar, 1C-75T, 2C-40T -> 115T (D.0) Discharge MT Sonata. THERE MAY BE SOME OTHER BUNKER SUPPLY OF OTHER SUPPLIER FOR THAT WE DO NOT HAVE KNOWLEDGE,

(d)
Sh. Singhvi stated that the date may be an error by Customs officer as loading of MGO was done at 0315 hrs. on 11/3/07, which is night of 10/3 and early morning of 11/3/2007.

(e)
it was a custom formality and the department’s duty.

(f)
Sh. Singhvi states that allegations were incorrect. The EGM provided with the SCN showed the date as14/3/07 only.

(g)
Mr. Barai's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B NO. F-3124/ 10.03.2007 In name of BGH Exim Ltd. Showing supply of 30mt of HSD to MT sonata at Vadinar and after perusing the same I agree that the subject supply is shown having made without statutory permission of 'Let Export'. I also agree to the fact that date of supply is changed through overwriting from 10.03.2007 to 14.03.2007.” There was no admission or any anomaly in this statement.

On the contrary, I find that the EGM supplied by Customs, Vadinar did not confirm any supply of bunker to vessel and was without sign of the Master as appended on other pages of the EGM. 

c.
ORB of the Barge Hope Island showed supply of 115 MT of HSD to MT Sonata at Vadinar on 14.03.2007, which is different from S/B quantity of 30 MT. In the ORB record submitted by the defence, the numeral “30” appears nowhere.
d.
Xerox of the duplicate copy of S/B showed that 28.16 MT of HSD supplied to MT Sonata on 14.03.2007 through barge Hope Island which is not correct while taking into consideration supplied quantity shown in ORB of the said barge. Moreover as per the endorsement of P.O (Bond), Kandla at reverse of the S/B, bunker shown dispatched from Kandla on 10.03.2007 which is also contradictory to the ORB of the said barge as per which, the same was shown as dispatched from Kandla on 11.03.2007. 
e.
From the copy of the S/B found, the subject supply was shown without any “Let Export” permission of the concerned Superintendent of Customs which is in violation of the provisions of Section 51 of the Customs Act,1962, and therefore illegal in terms of Section 113 (g) of the Act.

f.
The column “Allowed for Shipment” at reverse of S/B is found signed by supervising Customs Officer of Vadinar on 10.03.2007 and later the same changed through overwriting to 14.03.2007 and which showed dates were manipulated to regularise the supply which actually not took place.

g.
In his statement dated 09.04.2009, Sh. Rakesh Barai ahd admitted the above anomalies after perusing the documents.

h.
Further, as the defence pointed out at para (d) at Sr. No. (v) above for S/B F-2672/23.01.2007, that Sh. Anurag Surana was incorrect in saying that “it took 4-5 days from Kandla to Vadinar”. However, in the instant case I found that the barge started on 10.03.2007, from Kandla, and reached Vadinar on 14.03.2007, that means Sh. Anurag was factually correct w.r.t. no. of days.
(ix)
S/B No. F-3148/03.03.2007 for supply of 15.78 MTs of HSD at MT Enrico at Sikka Port: - It was the vessel agents’ responsibility to file the EGM with all supporting documents, Reference the documents received with SCN have S/B duly signed & stamped by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka and has sign on LEO & 'Allowed for shipment', short shipment, landing certificate, transit bond duly cancelled by the CH, Kandla and sale purchase contract.

(b)
Mr. Anurag's reply was “Bunker is shown in the Shipping Bill No. 3148/ 13.03.2007 to have been supplied to. MT Enrico Level on 15.03.2007. I do not have the details of the Bunker Barge through which the Bunker supplied under s/13 no. 3148/13.03.2007.” Mr. Anurag has not stated that supply was not made to the vessel concerned.

(c)
One document received with the SCN showed that the Port clearance was given on 14/03/2007 and it says that the vessel sailed at 0430 hrs. Clearly Port clearance was not given at midnight and can be given during normal working hours. Hence the statements are contradictory. Also, As perform III (Copy is provided with SCN by Customs) signed by the master of vessel indicates that the vessel sailed on 15/03/2011 at 0430hrs.

(d)
Sh. Singhvi had replied as “I have seen and signed the above said S/B and after perusing the same I agree to the fact that name of barge is no where mentioned in the said S/B. further clarification in the subject supply can be given by the bunker trader.” There is no admission by me that transportation of bunker was not forthcoming. 
(e)
Mr. Dushyant's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B No. F-3148/ 13.03.2007 and the corresponding documents in the EGM No. F-752/16.03.2007, and after perusing the same I agree to the fact that bunker supply to the vessel is shown after the vessel had sailed from Sikka Port on 14.03.2007 at 0430 hrs as per Port clearance No. F794/14.03.2007. I have further to say that in the subject supply 15.78MT of HSD was dispatched from kandla Port to Sikka port through TTs by us and onward supply was arranged by M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Which barge was used in the subject supply is not forthcoming from the S/B, I therefore agree to the fact that after sailing of the vessel: from the port, supply of bunker is not possible which appears to have been shown in the subject case. However, while sitting at kandla we were not aware about the date of sailing of vessel from Sikka.” This explanation does not mean that supply was not proved.

I found from the records that the EGM of the recipient vessel supplied by Sikka Customs does not show any bunker receipt at Sikka during the stay at material time.
b.
As per endorsement of the PO of Kandla Customs at reverse of the S/B, bunker appears to have been dispatched from Kandla to Sikka Port through TT, and how supplied to vessel MT Enrico Levoli at Sikka anchorage from Sikka Port is nowhere mentioned in the said S/B. M/s BGH Exim Ltd., through details of bunker supplies presented by Sh. Anurag Surana, during his statement on 22.01.2008 claimed to have effected supply through Barge Zee which was non-existent. Another barge by name of Zee-II, used by M/s Zee Shipping Services in bunker supply was also found not used, as confirmed by Sh. Rakesh Barai, in his statement dated 09.04.2009. Hence no supply was made in view of the above.

c.
As per the S/B, supply to vessel shown on 15.03.2007 however as per the Port Clearance No. F-794/14.03.2007 enclosed in the EGM, vessel sailed from Sikka Port on 14.03.2007 at 0430 Hrs., and therefore supply to vessel on 15.03.2007 was not possible.

d.
In his statement dated 16.04.2009, Sh. G.C.Singhavi, admitted that transportation of bunker through barge was not forthcoming from the concerned S/B.  

e.
Sh. Dushyant Patel, in his statement dated  08.12.2009 agreed to the fact of above anomalies and further stated that the subject supply was handled by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar and therefore he was unable to prove supply. 

(x)
S/B No. F-87/11.04.2007 for supply of 93.240 MTs of HSD at MT Mandlay at Sikka Port: - It was the vessel agent’s responsibility to file the EGM with all supporting documents. Vessel Arrival/Departure ROB Bunker details are missing. However as per the documents received with the SCN we have the duly signed & stamped by the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka with sign on 'allowed for shipment' short shipment, we have in our records landing certificate, transit bond duly cancelled, and sale purchase contract.

(b) 
Sh. Singhvi stated that it was the vessel agent’s responsibility to file the EGM with all supporting documents. Vessel Arrival/Departure ROB Bunker details were missing. However as per the documents received with the SCN we have the shipping bills duly signed & stamped by the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Silkka with sign on 'allowed for shipment'

(c)
Sh. Singhvi stated that details in the ORB were  “Date: 12.04.2007,11Code (letter) C, II Item (number) 6,7,8 (Record of operations/Rank and signature of officer in charge: Vadinar, 1C-50T -> (D.0) Discharge MT MANDALAY” These details do not establish that supply of bonded bunker was not made to the vessel concerned.

(d)
Mr. Rakesh's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B No. F-87/l 1.04.2007, showing supply of 93.240 Mt of HSD to MT Mandlay at Vadinar and after perusing the same I state that I am not aware as to which barge was used for the subject supply as regarding 'Let Export' I state that the subject supply is shown without 'Let Export'. I agree that no supply of bonded bunker can be made to any foreign going vessel without obtaining the Let export from the concerned superintendent of customs.”But this explanation does not mean that supply of bonded bunker was not made to foreign going vessels. In their case, the proper Customs officers at Kandla have allowed supply and transfer of bunker, and orders for export were also made by such Custom officers.

(e)
Mr. Karia's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B No. F-87/11.04.2007 and after perusing the same I state that the Subject supply was handled by us as the bunker trader however I admit that the supply is shown without let export' order as required under Section 51 of the customs act 1962. I further have to say that subject supply to vessel was made through bunker barge Hope Island.” And that “I have perused the ORB of Hope Island and I find that supply of 50mt.is mentioned therein at page 18. However I have to say that we have dispatched tota193.240mt of HSD through barge Hope island however how entry for only 50mt is shown in ORB can be explained by the barge operator only, as at the time of supply at vadinar anchorage we were not present.” These answers nowhere suggest that subject supply was illegal.

On the contrary, I noticed from the records that as per the EGM No. F-11/13.04.2007 sent by the CH, Vadinar, the vessel did not receive any bunker at Vadinar during it’s stay over there. Also as per the departure bunker figure enclosed with the EGM, receipt of 100 MT of HSD was not confirmed.

b.
As per the xerox of the duplicate S/B received from CH, Vadinar supply to vessel MT Mandalay shown without permission of “Let Export” and thereby illegal in terms of Section 113 (g) of the Customs Act,1962.

c.
From the endorsement made at reverse of the S/B, supply of 93.240 MT of HSD  to vessel at Vadinar was shown through Barge Hope Island however, as per the ORB of Hope Island, supply of 50 MT of DO is shown against 93.240 MT. Hence supply of bunker to vessel is not proved, in terms of S/B.

d.
Sh. Rakesh Barai, on 09.04.2009, stated after perusing the subject S/B, that the supply to vessel was not confirmed from the S/B as nowhere name of barge was mentioned and also subject supply was shown without statutory permission for “Let Export” in the S/B and without which supply of bonded bunker to any vessel could not be made.
e.
The engaged bunker trader in the subject supply were M/s Link Enterprises, and vide his statement dated 09.12.2009, Sh. Harendra Karia, proprietor of the company admitted to the above anomalies and irregularities in the supply. He also agreed to the fact of subject supply being illegal in nature because no statutory permission of “Let Export” was taken from the concerned Superintendent of Customs, before supply to vessel.

(xi)
S/B No. F-96/12.04.2007 for supply of 9.99 MTs of HSD at MV Indalco at Bedi Port: - This might happened if the agent had typed the EGM and received the S/B a day late. However, as per the document received with the SCN they had signed & stamped S/B from PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka, sign on LEO & 'allowed for shipment', short shipment, the transit bond duly cancelled by CH, Kandla, Landing certificate, master requisition, form KK, sale purchase contract.

(b)
This might happened if the agent had typed the EGM and received the S/B a day late. However, as per the document received with the SCN, they had signed & stamped S/B from PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka  and sign on LEO & 'allowed for shipment' , short shipment, the transit bond duly cancelled by CH, Kandla, Landing certificate, master requisition, form KK, sale purchase contract,

(c) 
The S/B had the LEO & Allowed for Shipment signatures. Mr. Anurag’s statement was not true because, even though signature might not have been taken from Jamnagar Customs on LEO, however S/B has signature of CH, Kandla in LEO and that was sufficient compliance of the requirement under the Customs Law.
(d)
Mr. Rakesh's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B NO. F-96/ 12.04.2007 and after perusing the same I agree to the fact that name of supplying barge is nowhere mentioned in the said S/B, and therefore I am unable to confirm as which barge was used in the said supply.” This reply nowhere suggests that he agreed that bunker was not supplied to the concerned vessel.

I observed that the EGM No. F-162/27.04.2007 of the vessel forwarded by CH, Jamnagar though indicates receipt of bunker, however, the same was entered in hand whereas, the remaining part of the EGM was typed.

b.
As per the S/B enclosed in the EGM, transportation of bunker first from Kandla to Bedi Port was shown through TTs, and from Bedi to anchorage of Bedi Port was nowhere mentioned in the S/B, thus the supplied is not proved. 
c.
In his statement dated 13.08.2008, Sh. Anurag Surana, admitted that in the subject supply neither permission for “Let Export” nor Examination order was obtained from the concerned Customs Officer of Jamnagar as was statutorily required. He also admitted that from the S/B it was not forthcoming as how the bunker was supplied to vessel.

d.
Sh. Rakesh Barai, in his statement admitted to the fact that it was not confirmed from the S/B as how the bunker was supplied to vessel.
(xii)
S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 for supply of 29.36 MTs of HSD at MV Sap Pratap at Sikka Port: - The company had Signed & Stamped S/B by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka duly signed on 'LEO & 'allowed for shipment', Short Shipment, Landing certificate, Master Requisition, Form KK are present.

(c)
Mr. Barai's reply was “I have seen and signed the S/B NO. F-219/ 27.04.2007, for supply of 30mt of HSD to MT Jag Pratap at Sikka on account of M/s. BGH Exim Ltd and after perusing the same I agree to the fact that name of supplying barge is now where mentioned in the said S/B, and therefore I am unable to confirm as to which barge was used in the said supply. Supplier of bunker can confirm how it was made.” But this explanation nowhere suggests that supply of bunker was not made.

(d) 
The signature on 'LEO & 'allowed for shipment both are present. Therefore, Mr. Anurag's reply that .....," I however admit that in the said S/B no permission for 'Let Export' was taken from the concerned superintendent of customs before making supply and also EGM of the said recipient vessel does not show any bunker supply"  is incorrect and not true.

(e)
Sh. Singhvi stated that this supply was of M/s. World link enterprise, and therefore they can explain about this transaction.

In this matter I observed that the EGM No. F-92/10.05.2007 forwarded by CH, , Sikka does not show any receipt of bunker at Sikka Port at that material time.

b.  As per the xerox of duplicate S/B enclosed in the EGM, bunker was shown as dispatched from Kandla for Sikka Port through TTs, but thereafter, how it was supplied to vessel at anchorage and through which barge was nowhere found mentioned in the S/B. Hence supply to vessel is not proved.

c.
M/s  BGH vide their report/statement claimed to have affected the subject supply through barge Zee and which was found non-existent. Moreover barge Zee-II used by M/s Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar for supply of bunker was also not used in the subject supply as confirmed by Sh. Rakesh Barai, on 09.04.2009. Hence transportation of bunker covered under S/B is not proved and hence supply was not made.

d.  
Sh. Anurag Surana, on 13.08.2008, after perusing the S/B No. F-219/27.04.2007 and the EGM No. F-92/10.05.2007 admitted to the fact of non-supply as appeared from the EGM and also supply was shown through S/B without statutory permission for “Let Export” as apparent from the copy of the S/B.

e.
Sh. Harendra Karia, on 09.12.2009, admitted that they failed to confirm the supply of bunker in the subject case; that they had handled the subject supply and therefore they should be able to explain the matter and he also admitted that the subject supply was not proved, since he also failed to explain which barge was used in the subject supply.

(xiii)
S/B No. F-102/31.07.2007 for supply of 120 MTs of HSD at AHTS Sim-Sim at Sikka Port: - The Company had the following documents, S/B duly signed & stamped by the PO, CH, Kandla & Inspector, CH, Sikka with sign on the 'allowed for shipment'. Moreover, we also have in our records, sale purchase contact, master requisition.

(d)
Sign & Stamp of the Sikka Port officer is present on the S/B

(e)
The reversion certificate clearly mentioned the Departure R.O.B of High Speed Diesel as 287.05 MT

(f)
Mr. Rakesh's reply was “After perusing the said S/B No. F-1102/ 31.07.2007 I confirm that supply of 120mt of HSD is shown by BGH Exim Ltd. to Tug AHTS Sim Sim at Sikka. However, I am unable to confirm as how the supply was made, but the supplier can explain how they have supplied bunker to the said Tug. After perusing the said ST13 I also agree to the . fact that no Let Export permission had been taken before making supply to Tug.” But export permission was allowed by Customs officer at Kandla, and therefore the above view of Mr. Rakesh is wrong.

(g)
Mr. Anurag's reply was “..., I am however unable to explain how the said bunker we supplied as nowhere in, the said S/B name of Barge is mentioned. Since the bunker was supplied through M/s. Link Enterprises, Gandhid.ham. The mode of supply should have been mentioned by them.” And that  “….,I admit that all the shop stores supplies are mentioned therein but no bunker supplies have been mentioned. As regarding the duplicate copy of the said S/B I am unable to say anything in this regard as the supply was made through M/s Link Enterprises and they may reply to this.” This answer nowhere shows that he stated bunker supplies were not made to foreign vessels. 
(h)
Mr. Karia's reply was...., "I agree to the fact that supply to Tug AHTS Sim sm is not confirmed as nowhere name of supplying barge is mentioned and also even if supply made the same is illegal for the reasons shown without 'let export' order. I further have to say that M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar would be able to reply in the matter as bunker was dispatched from Kandla through TTs uto Sikka and from Sikka Port M/s. Zee Shipping Services, has handled the subject supply". There is no admission by Sh. Karia that bunker was not supplied and delivered to the foreign going vessel.

My observations are that the EGM No. F-362/06.08.2007 forwarded by CH, Sikka did not show receipt of bunker as shown through S/B No. F-1102/31.07.2007, though the said EGM shows receipt of all kind of Ship Stores. Moreover the said EGM was sent without any S/B. Hence EGM not proved receipt of any bunker. 

b.
 As per the xerox copy of the duplicate S/B received from CH, Kandla, the bunker was shown as dispatched from Kandla for Sikka Port  through TTs, but then how transferred/supplied to vessel at Sikka anchorage from Sikka port is nowhere mentioned in the S/B. 

c.
As per the xerox copy of the duplicate S/B received from CH, Kandla , supply to vessel was shown without permission for “Let Export” and thereby illegal in terms of Section 113 (g) of the Customs Act,1962. 

d.
No report or endorsement regarding arrival of bunker at Sikka Port is found to have been made by Customs Officer of Sikka at reverse of S/B and also no report or endorsement regarding how the same was supplied to vessel at Sikka anchorage is found to have been made at the reverse of S/B as mandatorily required to have been mentioned.

e.
As per the S/B supply is shown to vessel on 03.08.2007, and also the vessel sailed from Sikka only on 03.08.2007 and as per the Departure R.O.B enclosed at page 67 of EGM, no stock of HSD/DO is shown therein. Therefore as per the Departure R.O.B, receipt of bunker is not confirmed.

f.   
Sh. Rakesh Barai on 09.04.2009, after perusing the EGM of the vessel and the S/B,  acknowledged that EGM was not confirming supply of any bunker to the said Tug though showing receipt of all the ship stores at Sikka. He further admitted that from the S/B shown to him supply was not confirmed as mode of supply was not mentioned anywhere in the S/B. He further agreed to the fact that supply of bonded bunker to AHTS Sim Sim was shown without “Let Export” permission. 

g.
Sh. Anurag Surana, during his statement on 13.08.2008 presented the xerox of the triplicate copy of S/B and further on being asked admitted that he was unable to confirm as how the bunker was supplied to vessel in the subject case because nowhere in the S/B name of barge was mentioned. He further added that engaged bunker trader M/s Link Enterprises would be able to answer the same. After perusing the EGM of the said Tug he admitted that the same was showing receipt of the ship Stores at Sikka port but nowhere receipt of HSD was mentioned as shown under S/B No. F-1102/31.07.2007.

h.
In his statement dated 09.12.2009, Sh. Harendra Karia, admitted that supply to vessel was not confirmed in the subject case and also even if made supply was illegal for the reasons having been made without statutory permission of “Let Export”. 

(xiv)
S/B No. F-2306/18.12.2006 for supply of 99.53 MTs of HSD at MT Arius at Sikka Port: - The Company had in their records, Custom Signed & Stamped S/B/by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka with sign on 'allowed for shipment', Landing Certificate, Master Requisition, Form KK.

(b)
 LEO was not their responsibility' the S/B was signed and stamped by the PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka, and sign on 'allowed for shipment' by Inspector, CH, Sikka. 
(d), Mr. Dushyant's reply was "I have seen the above documents and after perusing the same I state that subject supply was arranged by us through our barge Hope Island and endorsement to that effect is found written at reverse of the said S/B". He has not admitted that supply was made to the vessel without any supervision of Customs officers.

(e), Mr. Barai’s statement was “I have seen and signed the S/B NO, F-2306 /18.01/2006, on account of BGH Exim Ltd., showing supply of 99.530 MT of HSD to MT Arius at Sikka, and after perusing the same I agree that the subject supply is shown having made without statutory permissions of 'Let Export”. He has not admitted that bonded bunker supply was illegal.

I noticed that the EGM No. F-583/02.01.2007 forwarded by the CH, Sikka did not show receipt /supply of any bunker by/to vessel MT Arius at Sikka port during the material time.

b.
As per the S/B enclosed in the EGM supply is shown to have been made to vessel, without any permission for “Let Export” and hence rendering such supply as illegal in terms of Section 113 (g) of the Customs Act, 1962.

c.
The said supply of bunker to the vessel was shown even without supervision of the local Customs Officer of Sikka, which  is evident from the fact that xerox of the duplicate copy of S/B submitted by the engaged bunker trader namely M/s World Link TC Bond Store was found though signed by the CE of the vessel but was without any signature of the supervising Customs Officer, however the duplicate S/B (in original) in EGM was signed by CE as well as supervising Customs Officer and which proved the fact that the subject S/B was signed later on by the Customs Officer and who was not present at the time of bunker supply. The said fact was also admitted by the concerned supervising Customs Officer of Sikka Customs, Sh. Charles Mathews in his statement dated 01.12.2008. 

d.
Further in his statement dated 08.12.2009, the proprietor of bunker trader company M/s Gujarat Mariner, Sh. Dushyant Patel admitted to the fact that subject supply was not confirmed in view of the anomalies and irregularities in the documents and moreover, supply even if made was illegal under provisions of  the   Customs Act,1962. Sh. Dushyant Patel also admitted to the fact of supply shown without supervision of the Customs Officer though statutorily required.

e.
Sh. Rakesh Barai, on dated 09.04.2009 admitted after perusing the S/B that the subject supply of bonded bunker was shown to vessel without statutory permission for “Let Export” and therefore illegal in nature.

 22.
Clandestine removal (i.e. Diversion) of bunkers and Confiscation 

22.1
The Revenue’s case is that 835.690 MTs of Bunkers (i.e. HSD) is diverted, and custom duty is proposed to be recovered on such bunkers on this basis.  If bonded bunkers were diverted and not delivered to foreign run vessels, then it would be a case of clandestine removal or illicit diversion of such materials. But such case of clandestine removal and illicit diversion of goods has to be proved by the Revenue by adducing cogent, independent and reliable evidence; and such case could not be made out only on hearsay, or assumptions and presumptions. They relied upon the plethora of following decisions / judgements: .

(1)
Commissioner, Patna Vs. Universal Polyethylene Industries - 2001 (130) ELT 228 (Tri).

(2)   
Brimes Products Vs. CCE, Patna - 2001 (130) ELT 719 (Tri)

(3) 
Ambica Metal Works Vs. Collector, Calcutta - 1990 (29) ECR 549 
(CEGAT).

(4) TGL Poshak Vs. Commissioner of C. Ex., Hyderabad - 2002 (140) ELT 187 (Tri).

(5) M.T.K. Gurusamy Vs. Commissioner of Central Excise, Madurai - 2001 (130) ELT 344 (Tri).

(6) Commissioner of Central Excise, Chandigarh Vs. Deshmesh Casting (P) Ltd. - 2000 (40) RLT 1077 (CEGAT).

(7) Punjab Oil & Silicate Mills Vs. Collector of Central Excise - 1993 (65) ELT 268 (Tri)

(8)  Suvarna Polymers Pvt. Ltd. Vs. Commissioner of C. Ex., Hyderabad - 2000 (120) ELT 148 (Tri).

(9) Rishab Refractories Pvt. Ltd. Vs. Commissioner of C. Ex., Chandigarh - 1996 (87) ELT 93 (Tri)

(10) Kirtibhai Maganbhai Patel Vs. Commissioner of Central Excise, Nagpur - 2000 (36) RLT 211 (CEGAT).

(11) Deena Paints Vs. CCE, New Delhi - 2001 (43) RLT 805 (CEGAT-Del.).

(12) Ebenzer Rubbers Ltd. Vs. Collector of Central Excise, Ahmedabad - 1986 (26) ELT 997 (Tri).

(13) Shakti Chemical Industries Vs. Collector of Central Excise, Baroda  - 1995 (76) ELT 410 (Tri)

(14) Kashmir Vanaspati (P) Ltd. Vs. Collector of Central Excise - 1989 (39) ELT 655 (Tri)

(15) Ashwin Vanaspati Industries Pvt. Ltd. Vs. Collector of Central Excise - 1992 (59) ELT 175 (Tri)

(16) Gurpreet Rubber Industries Vs. Collector of C. Ex., Chandigarh - 1996 (82) ELT 347 (Tri)

(17) T.M. Industries Vs. Collector of Central Excise - 1993 (68) ELT 807 (Tribunal).


(18) Utility Alloys Pvt. Ltd. Vs. Commissioner, Cochin - 2005 (184) ELT 80 (Tribunal).

(19) Hilton Tobaccos Ltd. V/s Commissioner, Hyderabad - 2005 (183) ELT 378 (Tri).

(20) Rajasthan Foils Pvt. Ltd. V/s Commissioner, Jaipur - 2005 (183) ELT 101 (Tri).

(21) Premium Packaging Pvt. Ltd. V/s Commissioner, Kanpur - 2005 (184) ELT 165 (Tri).

(22) Kumar Cotton Mills Ltd. V/s. Commissioner, Ahmedabad – 2008 (229) ELT 273.

22.2
Thus, by virtue of the above referred case laws, they contended that the Department must adduce evidence. They further contended that the principles regarding nature of evidence the Department is required to adduce for sustaining allegations of clandestine activities therefore, have to be kept in mind while examining whether the present case was one where the Revenue had proved that the assessee had indulged in any such illegal activities? In the present case of alleged diversion HSD, the Revenue is obliged to prove as to how such HSD was diverted; in other words, the transporters and agents as well as brokers involved in transportation of such HSD and agents who brokered deals for sale of such HSD illicitly have to be found out by the Revenue.  The buyers to whom such diverted HSD was delivered are also required to be located by the Revenue.  The value of HSD alleged to have been diverted is Rs.2.51 crores (approx.), and how such price was received by us is also required to be established by the Revenue for proving case of diversion.  The shipping line agents and other agencies involved in bunker supplies in respect of foreign going vessels in this case have made payment of bonded bunkers to us, and therefore the Revenue shall have to establish that the price so received by us in accounted manner were returned to such shipping lines or shipping agents or the owner of the vessels if HSD in question was actually not delivered to such ocean going vessels as bonded bunkers. But in the present case, there is no such evidence that the Revenue has brought on record, and therefore the case of diversion of bonded bunkers is only a figment of imagination.

22.3
A contention was made at Annexure-A to the Show Cause Notice that bonded bunkers were not shown in EGM filed for a certain ocean going vessel and hence the allegation of bunkers not having been supplied to such vessel; but this is not only a lame contention but it is also ex-facie improbable because a foreign going vessel could never have sailed from Port of anchorage without filling its fuel tanks, and therefore it is impossible for a vessel to have sailed from any port without having sufficient fuel. When the IGM (Import General Manifest) filed by such a vessel is considered, it would be clear therefrom as to how much quantity of fuel was left in its tanks when it was allowed to enter the port; and a contention that such a vessel not having sufficient quantity of fuel when it berthed at the anchorage left the port without refueling i.e. without receiving bonded bunkers is preposterous.  Be that as it may, there is no evidence on record of this case showing as to where a substantial quantity like 835.690 MTs of HSD went away if it was not supplied to ocean going vessels as bunkers.  The principles laid down by virtue of the above referred case law in regard to proving a case of diversion of materials are not satisfied in the present case and therefore there is no justifiable or sustainable case of diversion of HSD against us.  Clandestine removal and diversion of HSD is not proved in this case and consequently proposals for demanding duty with interest and penalties on the basis of alleged diversion do not hold any water.

22.4
There is a proposal in the Show Cause Notice to order confiscation of 835.690 MTs of Bonded Bunkers i.e. HSD, but these goods have been admittedly delivered by us as bunkers to ocean going vessels, and therefore these goods are not available for confiscation.  These goods were not seized either at any point of time, and therefore it is also not a case where these goods were released provisionally. It is held by the Appellate Tribunal in the cases of Manjula Showa Ltd. 2008 (227) ELT 330 and also in Larger Bench decision of Shiv Kripa Ispat Pvt. Ltd. 2009 (235) ELT 623 (LB) that no order for confiscation of goods and imposition of redemption fine could be made when the goods were never seized nor were they released provisionally by the authorities.  The Hon’ble Punjab and Haryana High Court and Hon’ble Bombay High Court have also upheld this legal position while rejecting Tax Appeals filed by the Revenue and therefore it is a settled legal position that confiscation of goods, which were not seized and were not available for confiscation, cannot be ordered, and imposition of redemption fine in lieu of confiscation when the goods were never seized and were not physically available for confiscation or for redemption is also not permissible.  In this view of the matter, the proposal to order confiscation of the goods viz. Bonded Bunkers and also for imposing condition of payment of fine in lieu of confiscation of those goods deserves to be withdrawn in the interest of justice. As the importers were permitted duty free import on execution of bond only and in flagrant violation of the conditions of the bond, they have apparently diverted to the local market and hence, the above said case laws are not applicable and the goods are liable to be confiscated. 
23.
In view of the discussions in foregoing paras, I find that the bonded bunkers were diverted under the guise of supply to foreign going vessels and there by M/s BGH had contravened the provisions of Section 88 read with Section 59 of the CA, 1962. Therefore, the said bonded bunkers are liable to confiscation under Section 113 (k), 113(g) & (f) of the CA, 1962, in as much as the same were not supervised by the Custom Officers and moved without proper permission i.e. LEO in some cases. The offence is proved. It is there that no verification has been caused with the owners of the vessels to whom it is claimed that the bunkers were supplied, named in the Shipping Bills. In this regard the fact is that the bunkers were sold by the noticees without any intimation to the Customs and received the payments in INR, which itself is not in accordance with the law. I find all the statements were voluntary. I do not find any reason to disbelieve what was stated by the individuals voluntarily during investigation. There appears no reason to carry the investigation further up to a foreign going vessel, since the chain of evidence got linked when the suppliers themselves admitted non-supply and forging of the documents. It is settled law that what has been admitted need not be proved.

23.1
Section 111 (o) reads that any goods exempted, subject to any condition, from duty or any prohibition in respect of the import thereof under this Act or any other law for the time being in force, in respect of which the condition is not observed unless the non-observance of the condition was sanctioned by the proper officer; any notified goods in relation to which any provisions of Chapter IVA or of any rule made under this Act for carrying out the purposes of that Chapter have been contravened, would be liable to confiscation. In case of supply of HSD to vessels as bunker, S/B was filed in name of M/s BGH Exim under bond intended for supply/Export to the foreign going vessels, however, instead of causing supply to the vessels, they sold the same to the various bunker traders, on receipt of payment in INR and never cared whether the bonded HSD was actually supplied to the vessels it was meant for or otherwise, in total disregard of the legal undertaking given by them while requesting for acceptance of the Warehousing Bond filed by them with Customs at the time of duty free import and warehousing of such HSD as bunker fuel. Hence the purpose of furnishing / accepting is defeated completely in the subject case as no foreign exchange was received by the exporter in terms of the S/B. Therefore taking cognizance of the above, such handing over of bonded HSD against payment in INR amounts to outright sales illegally and was therefore clear cut diversion of the bonded bunkers. Further such sales of HSD by M/s BGH Exim was illegal also for the reason that the said product is marketable only by the State Trading Enterprises or any other agencies as permitted in terms of Ministry of Petroleum & Natural Gas’s Resolution No. P-23015/1/2001-MKT dated 08.03.2002. Besides HSD is a restricted item under Exim Policy falling under ITC (HS) code 2710.1930 and import of which allowed through IOCL only subject to condition of Para 2.11 and through the canalized agencies only as empowered in terms of Para 2.28 and 2.36 of the Exim Policy. However, M/s BGH Exim was allowed duty free import and warehousing of HSD, subject to the condition and undertaking to that effect tendered by them at the time of filing Warehousing Bond under Section 59 of the Customs Act, 1962, that the same would be supplied to foreign run vessels as bunker/Ship Stores. Therefore, the said legal undertaking was found violated by M/s BGH Exim while showing supply of bunker to vessels and thereby rendered the import of all such bonded bunker (i.e. HSD) illegal. 

23.2
I find that The Larger Bench of the Hon’ble Mumbai Tribunal in the case of Shiv Kripa Ispat Pvt. Ltd. vs. Commissioner of Central Excise, Nasik [2009 (235) ELT 623 (Tri-LB)] (“Shiv Kripa Ispat Case”) had held that if the goods were allowed to be exported without executing any bond or the goods are not available for confiscation, in that situation redemption fine cannot be imposed. In that case, Revenue had failed to produce the evidence as to whether the subject goods were cleared for export under bond. Therefore, it was concluded by the larger bench of the tribunal that the goods in question were cleared for export without furnishing any bond. Therefore, it was held that although the goods were liable for confiscation; no redemption fine can be imposed in the light of Shiv Kripa Ispat Case. However, in the instant case, the impugned goods were sold illegally under Ex-Bond procedure, and the exporters failed to bring forward any conclusive evidence that the goods were not diverted. Hence, the confiscation is justifiable. As the goods goods are not available for confiscation; I refrain from imposing any fine in-lieu of confiscation.
24.
Time bar: 
24.1
The bonded bunkers in question were supplied from July, 2006 to July, 2007 whereas the Show Cause Notice is issued in June, 2011. The demand raised under this Show Cause Notice is ex-facie barred by limitation.

24.2
In the present case, admittedly, all the customs documents establishing supplies of bonded bunkers to ocean going vessels are available.  The proper Customs officers have confirmed supply of bonded bunkers to foreign going vessels and therefore no allegation of suppression of facts or willful mis-statement or any of such ill intentions could be justifiably made against us.  The extended period of limitation for demanding duties on such bunkers is therefore not invocable in this case.

24.3
Transit Bonds furnished by us for each of the 14 shipping bills have admittedly been cancelled by the Assistant Commissioner of Customs, Kandla when bunker supplies were completed and the said proper Officer of Customs was satisfied about such bunker supplies.  The Bonds thus having been cancelled and Bank Guarantees having been returned to us, no demand of customs duty could be made invoking such cancelled Bonds.  Even otherwise, it is a settled legal position by virtue of decisions of the Appellate Tribunal in cases like Sterlite Optical Technologies Ltd. 2011 (270) ELT 266 (Tri.-Mumbai), Emcure Pharmaceutical Ltd. 2014 (307) ELT 180 (Tri.-Mumbai) and Final Order No.A/11187-11188/2015 dated 11.08.2015 passed by the Appellate Tribunal, Ahmedabad, in case of M/s. Madhu Silia Pvt. Ltd. that Section 28 of the Customs Act was applicable for demanding any customs duties not levied or not paid even though a Bond was executed by the concerned person.  Section 28 of the Customs Act, like Section 11A of the Central Excise Act, being the fountain head of all recoveries of duties not levied, not paid, short levied, short paid or erroneously refunded, this provision for demanding any duty is applicable in all cases like the present one and when this provision is applicable, the manner of demanding duty and limitation for demanding such duty are also applicable.  Accordingly, the Customs Department would have to allege and establish suppression of facts or willful mis-statement or fraud or any such ill-intention on our part for invoking extended period of five years for demanding customs duties on 835.690MTs of bonded bunkers supplied during July, 2006 to July, 2007.  But in the present case, no such ill-intention could be alleged against us because, as aforesaid, all our transactions of bunker supplies have been conducted under supervision and control of Customs officers in charge of Kandla Port as well as the concerned minor ports where the bonded bunkers were delivered to the ocean going vessels; and therefore larger period of limitation is not available to the Customs Department in this case.  Accordingly, the Show Cause Notice and demand raised against us in June, 2011 are barred by limitation.

24.4
The law about invocation of extended period of limitation is well settled. Only in a case where the assessee knew that certain information was required to be disclosed and yet the assessee deliberately did not disclose such information, the case would be that of suppression of facts. When the Excise Officers called or certain information and the assessee did not disclose the same or deliberately disclosed wrong information, that would be a case of willful mis-statement. Even in cases where certain information was not disclosed as the assessee was under a bonafide impression that it was not duty bound to disclose such information, it would not be a case of suppression of facts as held by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in the landmark cases of Padmini Products and Chemphar Drugs & Liniments reported in 1989 (43) ELT 195 (SC) and 1989 (40) ELT 276 (SC) respectively. 

24.5
What is “suppression” is once again considered by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in the case of Continental Foundation Jt. Venture V/s CCE, Chandigarh reported in 2007 (216) ELT 177 (SC), and it is held by the Hon’ble Supreme Court with regard to the proviso to Section 11A of the Central Excise Act, 1944, that mere omission to give correct information was not suppression of facts unless it was deliberate and to stop the payment of duty. In the previous case like Messrs Jaiprakash Industries Ltd. reported in 2002 (146) ELT 481 (SC) also, the Hon’ble Supreme Court has held that a bonafide doubt as to non-dutiability of goods was sufficient for the assessee to challenge the demand  on the point of limitation. Thus, it is a totally settled legal position that extended period of limitation by invoking proviso to the main Section for demanding duty or tax beyond the normal period of limitation would be justified only when the assessee knew about the duty/tax liability and still however, he did not pay the duty/tax and deliberately avoided such payment, and it was only in such a situation where suppression of facts on part of the assessee could be justifiably alleged by the Revenue. However, mere failure in giving correct information would not be a case where the Revenue can invoke extended period of limitation. 

24.6
In fact, the present one is a case where all the facts discussed in the show cause notice issued to us were within the knowledge of the Department right from day one. Under these circumstances, the show cause notice issued to us was barred by limitation and there was no justification in the action of invoking extended period of limitation against us in these facts of the case. 

24.7
There being no contravention by way of suppression of facts with intent to evade payment duty on our part, the invocation of extended period of limitation against us is illegal and unjustified in the facts of this case. 

25.
M/s.BGH have been found to have indulged in mis-representation of facts including warehousing bonds, fabrication of bunker supply documents and other unlawful activities i.e. obtaining the signatures on the S/Bs to claim supply of bunker. The above anomalies and irregularities were found in selected cases of bunker supplied by them. Thus they committed acts of mis-representation and suppression of facts with active connivance of M/s. Zee Shipping Services with fraudulent intention to cause diversion & illegal supply of the bunkers. I therefore find that the extended period of five years is correctly invokable for recovery of duties on all such illegal supplies/diversions. 

25.1
Further, from the documents, it is forthcoming that now, the noticees are claiming that the Company had in their records, Custom Signed & Stamped S/B/by PO, CH, Kandla, Inspector, CH, Sikka with sign on 'allowed for shipment', Landing Certificate, Master Requisition, Form KK. Whereas, while adjudicating the matter earlier on 21.12.2012, I do not find any such observation by my learned predecessor, rather I found that the RUDs were very much supplied to the noticees on that also. The DRI, Jamnagar under their letter F. No. DRI/JRU/INV-1/2007 Part-9 dated 10.08.2015 had mentioned that all the relevant documents are in different correspondence case files. 

25.2
They had cited that “suppression” was considered by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in the case of Continental Foundation Jt. Venture V/s CCE, Chandigarh reported in 2007 (216) ELT 177 (SC), wherein it was held by the Hon’ble Court with regard to the proviso to Section 11A of the Central Excise Act, 1944, that mere omission to give correct information was not suppression of facts unless it was deliberate and to stop the payment of duty. However, in the instant case, the assesses had imported the duty free goods, which firstly otherwise cannot be sold in the Indian market by them by virtue of the restrictions imposed thereon by the Foreign Trade Policy, secondly if the same are to be sold, the same could be cleared on payment of appropriate Customs duty.  

25.3
The defence cited another case viz. M/s Jaiprakash Industries Ltd. reported in 2002 (146) ELT 481 (SC) & Padmini Products and Chemphar Drugs & Liniments reported in 1989 (43) ELT 195 (SC) and 1989 (40) ELT 276 (SC) respectively, wherein, the Hon’ble Supreme Court has held that a bona-fide doubt as to non-dutiability of goods was sufficient for the assessee to challenge the demand on the point of limitation. Here, in the Instant case I observed that there was no such bona-fide impression on the part of the importers. Thus, the said case laws are not applicable in the instant case. 
25.4
The advocate of the noticees M/s BGH had conducted very elaborate cross-examination of the witnesses to derive a point, in their favour, that the bonded goods were properly supplied as ship stores to the foreign going vessels and the same was done in presence of the Customs Officers at various ports. The shipping bills containing the signatures of the Customs Officers and the Master(s) /Chief Engineer(s) of the said vessel(s), in this regard it can be seen from the above discussions that:
(i) 
The Customs officers admittedly had not physically supervised the supply of bunkers, invariably, in all cases, which was admittedly done through sepoys on many occasions and there is no concrete proof and the transactions are very doubtful as evidenced by the statements. 

(ii)
The noticees had executed bonds with the Customs, which was duly accepted and they were allowed to import duty free goods viz. HSD/Fuel Oil/Furnace Oil etc. and warehouse only because they bound on their own to clear such goods, imported without payment of duty, within 12 months of importation. Subsequently, the shipping bills were filed by them to export such goods, imported by them without payment of duty, under “in-Bond” procedure, as “Stores” to the foreign going vessels themselves, which was not followed by them conspicuously and faithfully in the instant case.

(iii)
From the evidences it is clear that the noticees in the instant case were only manipulating the law and the procedures and hoodwinked the Customs officers and stealthily diverted the bunkers to the so-called agents and not supplied to the foreign going vessels as firstly they violated the conditions of the bonds executed by them and declarations made under Shipping Bills filed by them by not supplying the bonded goods themselves, secondly the payments in-lieu of the impugned supply were not received by them directly from their intended customers, but was received by the middle-men i.e. M/s Zee Shipping in the instant case, thirdly they never cared whether the goods imported by them, without payment of duty under in-bond procedure, were being cleared / supplied properly under ex-bond procedure, fourthly as per the conditions of the bond there must be no middle-men between the consigner (M/s BGH) and the consignee (master of the vessel), which is not in the instant case, fifthly in certain cases they admittedly agreed to bring the proof of supply before the investigators, which they never brought on record and sixthly they contended before the CESTAT that they were not supplied the copies of the relied upon documents, whereas from the records I found that the copies of the relied upon documents to the Show Cause Notice No. S/10-14/Adj./2011-1 dated 23.06.2011, were already handed over to the Senior Sales Officer Sh. Rajiv Sharma of M/s BGH Exim Ltd. under proper acknowledgement dated 01.07.2011. The tactics of the noticees are to take undue advantage of the law and to delay the adjudication and further recovery proceedings. 
26.
Penalties (Contentions and defence submissions): 
26.1
They contended that penalty is also proposed to be imposed on them invoking provisions of Sections 112(a), 114(ii) and 144(A) of the Customs Act, but there is no justification nor any validity in this proposal of penalty also. Though the case alleged against our company is that bunkers were diverted and hence there was non-levy/non-payment of custom duties on bunkers and that such diversion was an act of deliberate deception on part of our company, there is no substance in the case of diversion of the bunkers and there is no non-levy or short payment of duty at all in the present case.  The bunkers were supplied to foreign going vessels and thus the bunkers allowed to be imported and warehoused duty-free were used for the intended and the licensed purpose namely, supply thereof to foreign going vessels.  There is no evidence of actual diversion of these bunkers and there is also no evidence of any willful mis-statement or suppression of facts or collusion or any such ill-intention on part of our company for which Section 114A of the said Act could be invoked.  The only justification in support of proposal for penalty is that their company played an active role in diversion of the imported goods thereby evading customs duty; but it was not shown as to whether their company was guilty by reason of collusion or any willful mis-statement or suppression of facts and therefore also proposal for penalty under Section 114A of the Act is unsustainable and without justification.

26.2
The expressions like collusion, willful mis-statement or suppression of facts refer to different situations and therefore it is incumbent upon the authority to record a finding, and that finding should also be sustainable, that the concerned person was guilty of which of the above situations; and only then penalty under Section 114A of the Act could be imposed.  In this case, it is not shown whether our company was guilty by reason of collusion or any willful mis-statement or suppression of facts.  Thus, the ingredient for which our company could be penalized under Section 114A of the Act is not shown in the adjudication and therefore penalty under this Section is illegal.  Further, there is no case of any diversion of imported goods nor is there any case for evading customs duty for such imported goods namely, bunkers and therefore also, Section 114A of the Act is not applicable in this case. Penalty is a quasi-criminal liability and therefore it could be imposed only when there was evidence suggesting dishonest or contumacious conduct of the person concerned; but no such evidence exists in the present case. we submit that penalty under Section 112(a) of the said Act cannot be justifiably imposed on us, and therefore also we request you to treat the proposal to impose penalty on us as unsustainable; and consequently this proposal may be dropped in the interest of justice.

26.3
Section 112(a) provides for penalty on any person who, in relation to any goods, does or omits to do any act which act or omission would render such goods liable to confiscation under Section 111, or abets doing or omission of such act. This part of Section 112 is pressed in service by  the Revenue in this case against us, but however, we have not done anything or omitted to do anything which would render the goods in question liable for confiscation. When Section 111 of the Act is not attracted in the present case, the whole basis for proposing penalty against both of us would vanish.

26.4
In the present case, all the export documents have been duly submitted by them while filing clearance documents like shipping bill for these goods. In other words, sales invoices, shipping bills and all such documents have been filed by us before the proper officers, and thus there is no action nor any omission on our part which would render the goods in question liable to confiscation.  In the facts of this case, no malafide could be attributed to us for proposing to impose penalties under Section 112(a) of the said Act. 

26.5
The matter of penalty is governed by the  principles as laid down by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in the land mark case of M/s Hindustan Steel Limited reported in 1978 ELT (J159) wherein the Hon’ble Supreme Court has held that penalty should not be imposed merely because it was lawful to do so.  The Apex Court has further held that only in cases where it was proved that the person was guilty of conduct contumacious or dishonest and the error committed by the person was not bonafide but was with a knowledge that he was required to act otherwise, penalty might be imposed.  It is held by the Hon’ble Supreme Court that in other cases where there were only irregularities or contravention flowing from a bonafide belief, even a token penalty would not be justified. In this view of the matter, proposal to impose penalty on our company is not justified, and therefore, we request you to withdraw this proposal also in the interest of justice.

26.6
Penalties are proposed to be imposed on Sh. Anurag C. Surana and Sh. G.C. Singhvi also. Sh. Surana was serving their company as an Assistant Managre at that time whereas Sh. Singhvi was serving their company as Vice President when the bonded bunkers in question were supplied to ocean going vessels. However, both of them have left employment of their company, and thus, they are no longer serving their company.

26.7
The proposal for imposing penalty on these employees, who have now left the employment as aforesaid, is on the basis that they were signing documents in respect of supply of bunkers for their company. But only because an employee signed certain documents in his capacity of a person and was overall in-charge of the business of a company, penalties under Sections 112(a), 114(ii) and 144AA of the said Act would not be justified against such individuals. None of the ingredients of these Sections is satisfied in the present case, and it is even otherwise a settled legal position that personal penalties on an employee could not be imposed when he had no personal gain or benefit in carrying out the affairs of his employer, and all the actions taken by him were in the normal course of his employment. 

26.8
Even in cases like Vinod Kumar V/s. Commissioner of Central Excise, Delhi, reported in 2006 (199) ELT 705 (Tri.-Del.) and R.K. Ispat Udyog reported in 2007 (211) ELT 460 (Tri.-Del) and in the Order No.A/835/WZB/AHD/09 dated 20.4.2009/24.4.2009 passed by the Hon’ble Tribunal, Ahmedabad in the case of Sh. Hitesh Kumar Patel V/s. Commissioner of Central Excise, Mumbai also, the Appellate Tribunal has held that personal penalty on an employee was not justified nor called for when the employee was discharging his duties in accordance with the directions of the employer. In the present case, there is no evidence on record to show that Sh. Surana and Sh. Singhvi had acted in excess of their status as an employee or that they had any personal interest or involvement in the business of M/s. BGH Exim Ltd., and therefore the above referred principle laid down by the Appellate Tribunal is applicable and accordingly, no penalty may be imposed on them for having worked as employees of M/s. BGH Exim Ltd.  

26.9
Moreover, Section 112(a) of the Act is erroneously invoked against their two ex-employees because none of these two persons has done or omitted to do any act which act or omission would render the bunkers in question liable to confiscation under Section 111, nor have these persons abetted doing or omission of any such act.  The bunkers were imported by our company, and all the custom formalities for importing as well as for supplying the bunkers to foreign going vessels have been followed by our company; and therefore there was no act or omission in respect of such bunkers for rendering them liable to confiscation that could be attributed to these two ex-employees.  The bunkers are even otherwise not liable for confiscation and therefore also, Section 111 of the Act not having been attracted in this case, no penalty under Section 112(a) of the Act could have been imposed on these two ex-employees.  Moreover, these persons were only employees working for their salary with our company and hence they had no personal interest in the conduct and business affairs of our company; and therefore also no personal penalty could have been imposed on them in the present case. Therefore, it is submitted that proposal to impose personal penalties on Sh. Surana and Sh. Singhvi may also be withdrawn in the interest of justice.

27.
Findings on penalties:
27.1 
The impugned bunkers were imported by M/s BGH at Kandla Port, without payment of Customs duty, which were subsequently warehoused in the tanks by filing warehousing Bs/E. The exemption of the customs duty was available to the bunkers imported by them subject to the condition that the same were to be supplied to foreign going vessels. Since M/s BGH had violated this condition, the said bunkers are also liable to confiscation under Section 111(o) of the CA, 1962. Besides, HSD was a restricted item under Exim Policy and import of which allowed through IOCL only subject to condition and through the canalized agencies. However, they were allowed duty free import and warehousing of HSD, subject to the condition and undertaking to the effect that the same would be supplied to foreign run vessels as bunker. The said legal undertaking was found violated by BGH while showing supply of bunker to vessels and thereby rendered the import of all such bonded bunkers (i.e. HSD) illegal and liable to confiscation in terms of Section 111(o), (d) of the CA, 1962. Consequently, I find them liable to penal action under Section 112(a) of the Customs Act, 1962. 

27.2 
Since the aforesaid goods i.e. bunkers are not physically available for confiscation, having been already cleared, I refrain from imposing any redemption fine in-lieu of confiscation.

27.3 
I have already held in the above paras that BGH is liable for penalty under Sections 112(a) & 114(ii) of Customs Act, 1962. Further, BGH would also be liable for the mis-deeds on their part causing evasion of customs duty. I am of the view that they are also liable for penalty under Section 114A of Customs Act, 1962 as they have played active role in the diversion of the imported goods thereby evading customs duty to the tune of approx. Rs.72.00 lacs. However as per the proviso to Section 114A of Customs Act, 1962 provides that where any penalty has been levied under Section 114A, no penalty shall be levied under Section 112 and 114. Accordingly, I refrain from imposing penalty on them under Sections 112(a) & 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962. 

28.
Now, I come to the penalties leviable on other co-noticees persons. 

28.1
Sh. Anurag C. Surana, Assistant Manager of M/S BGH EXIM: - I find that Sh. Anurag C. Surana was responsible for bunker supplies right from receiving order/nomination for bunker supplies from the bunker traders, completing Customs documentation, and then finally receiving the bunker supply documents purportedly after supply of bunker from the engaged bunker traders. He was signing Warehousing Bonds filed under Section 59 by M/s BGH. The HSD so warehoused was sold to bunker traders instead of supplying ex-bond to vessels in terms of the bond so executed by him on behalf of the company. He was responsible for wrongly claiming supply of bonded bunker to vessels at Pipavav Port through the S/B which were found to be not genuine as per the report of Customs House, Pipavav. In his statements he admitted the fact of anomalies and irregularities in the bunker supplies and that the signatures of Chief Engineers in the S/Bs showing receipt of bunker were different from their own signatures in other documents implying that the signatures were not genuine. I find that there was severe negligence on the part of M/s BGH, particularly when they were clearing bonded bunker which were procured duty free. On being asked to explain the anomalies and the irregularities in the bunker supplies and the documents thereof he shifted the responsibilities to the engaged bunker traders, though aware of the legal fact that causing supply of bunker to vessels in terms of S/B was their sole responsibility in terms of Warehousing Bond filed by them. Therefore in the capacity of Assistant Manager of BGH, Sh. Anurag Surana by various acts of omission and commission violated the warehousing provisions and the undertaking filed by M/s BGH, thereunder and rendered the import of such HSD, illegal and liable to confiscation under Section 111(o) and 113(g) of the Customs Act, 1962 and thereby also rendered himself liable for penalty under Section 112(a), 114(ii) and 114AA of the Customs Act, 1962.

28.2
Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi, Vice President of M/s.BGH EXIM:- I find from various documents and statements of various persons a well as his own statements that he was also responsible for the non-supply and illicit supply of the bonded bunker. He was overall in-charge of the company affairs at Gandhidham and he had been taking decisions in relation to the supply of bunker to the vessels. Being Vice-President of the company he was responsible for handing over the bonded bunker to the bunker traders instead of making supply to the vessels in terms of relevant Shipping bills filed for the purpose thereby causing violation of the conditions and undertaking given in the Warehousing Bonds filed by BGM. Sh. Anurag Surana, Assistant Manager of BGH stated that he was reporting to Sh. G.C.Singhvi and worked as per his directions so far as the works related to supply of bonded bunker was concerned. On perusal of the bunker supply documents and the reports of the Customs House, Pipavav he admitted to the above facts and acknowledged that it was responsibility of BGH to ensure physical receipt of the bonded bunker by vessels in terms of the concerned S/B however they admittedly failed to do that. Therefore, Sh. G.C. Singhvi was vitally responsible in causing the diversion / illegal sales as well as illicit supplies / exports of the bonded bunker rendering the same liable for confiscation under Section 111(o) and 113(g) of the Customs Act, 1962. Sh. G.C. Singhvi is therefore liable for penal action under Section 112(a) and Section 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962. 

28.3
M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Gandhidham:- M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Gandhidham contended that allegations regarding diversion of export were completely false as shipping bills bore the signatures of Customs Officers who had given the let export order, supervised the loading of goods, allowed the goods for shipment at the port of loading and delivered the goods on board. Initially M/s. Gujarat Mariner also argued that simultaneous penalty cannot be proposed against proprietor and his proprietorship concern. The contentions made by them are not acceptable. I find that they were one of the bunker traders, who though claimed by M/s BGH to have received the bonded bunker from them (BGH) for making supply to the intended vessels, however failed to supply and apparently diverted the same elsewhere and in some cases exported illegally by showing supply under shipping bills without statutory permission as well as without customs supervision. The supplying barges namely Hope Island & Hope Island II were owned and controlled by Sh. Dushyant Patel, one of the Directors of M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd and also the Proprietor of M/s. Gujarat Mariner. After taking delivery of bunker from M/s BGH they knowingly did not take permission from Customs before supply with intention to suppress the fact relating to diversion of the bonded bunker from Customs authority at the port of supply. M/s. Gujarat Mariner was directly responsible for causing diversion of the bonded bunker because Customs documentation as well as transportation was shown having done by them only. Further, M/s. Gujarat Mariner, on the basis of the available bunker supply documents including the Log Books and Oil Record Books (ORB) of the bunker barges, claimed  that supply took place as per the shipping bill, which they had reasons to believe, was not genuine as well as illegally made. Likewise, in cases where vessels were shown sailed from Port before purported date of supply and where Customs Pipavav reported that vessel did not receive any bunker at their port, M/s. Gujarat Mariner prepared the documents to show that supplies took place which they had reasons to believe were not genuine. Sh. Patel also confirmed the fact that purported supply of bonded bunker by M/s BGH was a sale to them for which they (BGH) were not authorized and which was in gross violation of the Warehousing Bonds filed by them (BGH) and also in serious breach of the provisions of Para 2.11 of the FTP. Therefore, M/s. Gujarat Mariner was also directly and crucially responsible in diversion of the bonded HSD as well as in illegal supplies thereof in contravention of the provisions of the CA, 1962, which resulted in evasion of the Customs Duty and rendered such goods liable for confiscation under Section 111(o) and Section 113(g) of the CA, 1962. I therefore find them liable for penal action under Section 112(b) and Section 114(ii) of the CA, 1962. It is contended that simultaneous penalty cannot be proposed against proprietor and his proprietorship concern. In this regard, I find that Sh. Dushyant Patel has been charged not only as Proprietor of M/s. Gujarat Mariner, but he has been charged as one of the Directors of M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd, a barge operator owning the barges Hope Island and Hope Island II which were used in transportation of bonded bunkers. In this regard I find the support in words and spirit, from the law settled by Hon’ble High Court of Madras, in the case of C. Eswaran vs Commissioner of Customs, Coimbatore [2014(306) ELT 264 (Mad)], wherein it was held in clear words that the appellant in his capacity as partner abetted the firm to commit the offence-statutory authority fully justified in imposing fine on firm as well as on its active partner. Thus the contentions of the defnce do not hold water and I held that the penalty can be imposed on both i.e. the firm and its proprietor, who was actively involved in the diversion of duty free imported goods, not only through M/s Gujarat Mariner but also through his other wings viz. M/s Blue Ocean Transport Limited.  
28.4
Sh. Dushyant Patel, Director of Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd and Proprietor of M/s Gujarat Mariner, Gandhidham:- 
Sh. Dushyant Patel, Director of Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd and Proprietor of M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Gandhidham contended that goods cleared under the supervision of Customs officers and relevant shipping bills bore the signatures of Customs officers. He denied all allegations levelled against him. Sh. Dushyant Patel, being Proprietor of bunker trader company M/s.Gujarat Mariner and one of the Directors of barge operating company M/s.Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd was decisively crucial and responsible for all the acts and omission of M/s.Gujarat Mariner and barge operator which resulted in diversion of the bonded bunker meant for foreign going vessel and also in causing illegal export of the same. The role of bunker barges namely Hope Island and Hope Island-II was very important in supplies of bunker by BGH. The same were used in diversion as well as illegal export of bunker by Sh. Dushyant Patel and through log books and Oil Record Books of barges, supplies were shown to have been made as per the shipping bills which he had reasons to believe were not genuine. Besides he was also found to have suppressed the fact of bunker supply from the concerned Customs authority to conceal the diversion and illegal supplies, by not taking permission for “Let Export” and by not causing supply under supervision of Customs. By all these acts, he aided and abetted the diversion / illegal sales and illegal export of the bunker rendering such bunker liable for confiscation in terms of provisions of Section 111(o) and Section 113(g) of the Customs Act, 1962. I therefore find him liable for penal action under Section 112(b), Section 114(ii) and Section 114AA of the Customs Act, 1962.

28.5
M/s.Link Enterprises, Gandhidham:- M/s.Link Enterprises have in their defence submitted that the word “Let Export” was not in existence in the Act, instead plain language was used which indicated permission for loading and clearance was to be obtained from the proper officer, which was followed as can be seen at the reverse of all the shipping bills with the remarks “allowed shipment”; that no mandatory provision of the Act stood violated, if stores not meant for landing was not mentioned in EGM; that the investigation had relied on presumptions and / or assumptions to prove deviation of bunkers, whereas records submitted proved that the entire bunkers dispatched from Kandla / Mundra had been delivered to the nominated vessels; that non recording of local barge name on shipping bills was an operational lapse and which cannot become cause to declare supply as illegal; that likewise non recording of shipping bill nos. in the EGM was also a lapse on the part of shipping agents and as bunker suppliers they had no control and / or say for the work of shipping agents. M/s.Link Enterprises, Gandhidham were one of the bunker traders for many supplies of bonded bunker of BGH. Sh. Harendra Karia, Proprietor of M/s.Link Enterprises in his statement dt 09.12.2009, though claimed to have received the bonded bunker from M/s.BGH Exim as per shipping bills filed in the name of M/s.BGH Exim, failed to explain how the said supplies were effected and he also failed to explain which barges were used for the said supplies. This was apparently for the reasons that the bunker was diverted elsewhere. The non-supply of bunker was also admitted by Sh. Anurag Surana, Assistant Manager of BGH in his statements and by M/s.Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar. In case of shipping bill no.965 dated 04.08.2006, wherein supply of 67.29 MT of HSD was claimed by M/s.BGH Exim to Tug Sea Way-5 at Pipavav Port, however from the report of the Assistant Commissioner, Pipavav it was revealed that no bunker was supplied to vessel. Sh. Harendra Karia in his statement dated 09.12.2009 admitted the fact of some supplies shown having made without statutory permission of ‘Let Export’ and thereby rendering such supplies illegal in terms of Section 113(g) of the Act, and for which M/s.Link Enterprises was responsible. He also confirmed the fact that purported supplies of bonded bunker by BGH was instead a sale to them for which BGH were not authorized and which was in gross violation of the conditions of Warehousing Bonds filed by BGH and of the provisions of Para 2.11 of the FTP. I therefore find that M/s.Link Enterprises were involved in the diversion of the bonded HSD as well as in causing illegal supplies of the same to the vessels which resulted in evasion of the Customs Duty rendering such goods liable for confiscation in terms of the provisions of Section 111(o) and 113(g) of the Customs Act, 1962. I therefore find them liable for penal action under Section 112(b) & Section 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962.
28.6
M/s.Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar:-  M/s.Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar (New Address 309, Shopping Point, Opp. Fortune Palace, Digjam Circle, Khodiyar Colony, Jamnagar -361008) have contended that the goods were cleared under the supervision of customs officers and the relevant shipping bills bore their signatures; that allegation that mandatory provisions of “Let Export” permission under Section 51 of the Customs Act, 1962 were overlooked was contrary to the procedure.  They were involved in supply of bonded bunker on behalf of BGH to foreign going vessels at the Sikka, Bedi, Vadinar and Pipavav ports, by obtaining the permission from concerned Customs Offices for supply of bonded bunker. The documents / files withdrawn from the office of M/s.Zee Shipping Services, Jamnagar under Panchanama dated 24.08.2007 contained such bunker supply documents therein and which indicated that M/s.Zee Shipping Services were willfully and actively indulged arranging supplies of BGH at the above ports and were instrumental in diversion and illegal supplies of the bunker in total contradiction of their limited role upto taking permission on fax copy of shipping bill. M/s.Zee Shipping Services willfully tried to suppress the fact of their full indulgence in arranging the supplies of BGH, because while claiming to have obtained permission of Customs for supply of bonded bunker, they deliberately overlooked the mandatory legal provisions of “Let Export” and then facilitated BGH in showing supply / export of bonded bunker without Customs Supervision in violation of Section 34 of the Customs Act, 1962. It was deposed by Sh. Rakesh Barai of M/s.Zee Shipping Services in his statement dated 20.04.2009 that after supply of bunker to the vessels, they were regularly receiving the duplicate and triplicate Shipping Bills in original from the bunker suppliers for getting the same endorsed from the concerned Customs Officer, who apparently though signing the shipping bill, had neither attended the supervision of supply nor examined the bunker. Thus despite knowing the provisions of the Customs and other relevant Laws relating to supply of bonded bunker to the vessels, M/s.Zee Shipping Services knowingly abetted BGH in causing diversion of the bonded bunker as well as in illegal supply thereof in collusion with the concerned traders and then to regularize the same they were arranging for endorsements of the Customs Officers of the concerned Customs Office which was unlawful and in violation to the provisions of the Customs Act,1962. They knowingly and willfully concerned themselves in the diversion and illegal supply of bunker by BGH. They facilitated BGH in causing diversion of the bonded bunker as well as in causing illegal exports of bunker which resulted in evasion of the Customs Duty amounting to Rs.71,39,375/- rendering all such  goods  liable for confiscation in terms of provisions of Section 111(o) and 113(g) of the Customs Act, 1962. I therefore find them liable for penal action under Section 112(b) and 114(ii) of the Customs Act, 1962.

29. 
Interest: - The noticees contended that the proposal to recover interest under Section 28AA of the Act is also not sustainable. Interest under Section 28AA of the Act could be levied and recovered only where any duty had not been levied or paid or had been short levied or short paid or erroneously refunded for the period from the first date of the month succeeding the month in which the duty ought to have been paid under the Act till the date of payment of such duty. However, firstly there is no short levy or short payment of Customs duty in this case. Secondly, we have not paid any duty late as contemplated under the above provision. In this view of the matter, the proposal to recover interest under Section 18(3) of the said Act read with Section 28AA of the Act does not hold any water. In the above premises, they contended that that the proposals levelled under this show cause notice are unsustainable in facts as well as in law. They had requested to withdraw all the proposals of demand of Customs Duty, confiscation of bonded bunker, recovery of interest and imposition of penalties while withdrawing the show cause notice. 
30.
From the discussion as mentioned in Paras-Supra, I am therefore of the considered view that the supply of bonded bunker was not made to foreign going vessels under the above 14 S/Bs. I therefore confirm the demands as raised vide SCN dated 23.06.2011. Therefore in view of the above, it appears that the 835.690 MTs of HSD valued at Rs. 2,51, 69, 234/- (as per the Show Cause Notice dated 23.06.2011) covered under the 14 S/Bs, as per Annexure-A to the SCN, shown to be exported by M/s BGH EXim as supplied to foreign going vessels, were actually diverted, in contravention  to the provisions of the Customs Act,1962, as discussed in the paras-supra, the said quantity of the bonded bunker, is therefore liable to confiscation under Section 111(d) & 111 (o), 113 (f), 113 (g) & 113 (k) of the Customs Act,1962. Further Customs Duties amounting to Rs. 71,39,375 /- on 835.690 MTs of HSD, is also liable to be recovered from them under Section 28(4), read with provisions of Section 72(1) of the Customs Act,1962. They are also liable to pay interest at applicable rates under Section 28 AA (1) of the Customs Act, 1962 for the reasons discussed in paras-supra. Further, all warehousing bonds / undertaking executed / furnished by them are required to be enforced to recover the duty foregone. 
31.
In view of the above, I pass the following order:

ORDER 
(a) 
I order confiscation of 835.690 MT of HSD valued at Rs.2,51,69,234.00 under Section 111(d), 111(o), 113(f), 113(g) and 113(k) of the Customs Act, 1962. However, since the same are not available for confiscation, having been already cleared, I refrain from imposing any redemption fine in lieu of such confiscation, in view of the settled legal position.
(b) 
I confirm the demand of Custom duty amounting to Rs.71,39,375.00 (Rupees Seventy one lacs thirty nine thousand three hundred seventy five only) on 835.690 MT of HSD under Section 28(4) read with Section 72(1) of the Customs Act,1962 and determine the same as amount of customs duty under Section 28(8) of the Customs Act, 1962 recoverable from M/s.BGH EXIM Limited. 

(c) 
I order for recovery of Interest at the appropriate rate from M/s.BGH EXIM Limited on the amount of duty as above at (b) under Section 28AB during relevant time and presently under Section 28AA(1) of the Customs Act, 1962 
(d) 
I Impose penalties as mentioned against each, on the following persons / firms. 

	Sr. No.
	Name of the person / firm
	Section of the Customs Act, 1962 under which penalty imposed
	Amount of penalty in figures (Rs.)
	Amount of penalty in words (Rs.)

	1
	M/s. BGH Exim Limited, DBZS/140, Ward-12-A, Gandhidham,
	114A
	71,39,375 + the amount equivalent to the interest payable.
	Seventy Lakh Thirty Nine Thousand Three Hundred and Seventy Five and the amount equivalent to the interest payable.

	
	
	Total
	71,39,375 + the amount equivalent to the interest payable.
	Seventy Lakh Thirty Nine Thousand Three Hundred and Seventy Five and the amount equivalent to the interest payable.

	2
	M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham (Kutch)
	112(b) 
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	6,00,000
	Six Lakh only

	3
	M/s. Link Enterprises, Plot No.44, Sector-9/A, Gandhidham.
	112(b)
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	6,00,000
	Six Lakh only

	4
	M/s. Zee Shipping Services, Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar (New Address 309, Shopping Point, Opp. Fortune Palace, Digjam Circle, Khodiyar Colony, Jamnagar)
	112(b)
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	3,00,000
	Three Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	6,00,000
	Six Lakh only

	5
	Sh. Dushyant Patel, Director of M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd., &  Proprietor of M/s. Gujarat Mariner Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No:-306, Gandhidham 
	112(b) 
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	114AA
	2,00,000
	Two Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	10,00,000
	Ten Lakh only

	6
	Sh. Anurag. C. Surana, Assistant, Manager, M/s.  BGH Exim Limited, Gandhidham.
	112(a) 
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	114AA
	2,00,000
	Two Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	10,00,000
	Ten Lakh only

	7
	Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi, Vice-President, M/s. BGH Exim Ltd, Gandhidham
	112(a)
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	114(ii)
	4,00,000
	Four Lakh only

	
	
	Total
	8,00,000
	Eight Lakh only


  
All the warehousing bonds / undertakings furnished by M/s.BGH Exim Limited are enforceable for recovery of the aforesaid dues against them. 

(PVR REDDY)

COMMISSIONER

By R.P.A.D. / Hand Delivery

F. No. S/10-50/Adj/2013-14
   




Dated:27.11.2015
To, 

1.
M/s. BGH Exim Limited, DBZS/140, Ward-12-A, Gandhidham.
2.
Sh. Anurag. C. Surana, Assistant Manager of M/s. BGH Exim Limited, Gandhidham.

3.
Sh. Gyanchand C. Singhvi, Vice-President of M/s. BGH Exim Ltd., Gandhidham.
4.
M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No-306, Gandhidham (Kutch).
5.    
Sh. Dushyant Patel, Director of M/s. Blue Ocean Sea Transport Ltd &  Proprietor of M/s. Gujarat Mariner, Manali Chambers, Sector-1/A, Plot No-306, Gandhidham (Kutch).
6.
M/s. Link Enterprises, Plot No-44, Sector-9/A, Gandhidham (Kutch).
7.
M/s. Zee Shipping Services, 309, Shopping Point, Opp. Fortune Palace, Digjam Circle, Khodiyar Colony, Jamnagar -361008 (Old address Flat No.-101, Srijivihar Apartment, Bedi Bunder Road, Jamnagar).
Copy to:

(1) 
The Additional Director General, DRI, Ahmedabad.

(2) 
The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Bond), Custom House, Kandla.

(3) 
The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Recovery), Custom House, Kandla

(4) 
The Assistant Commissioner of Customs (Review), Chief Commissioner Office, Gujarat Zone, Ahmedabad.

(5)
Guard File. 
(PVR REDDY)

COMMISSIONER 
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